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Registrant�s telephone number, including area code (202) 729-1700
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Number of shares outstanding of each of the registrant�s
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Part I

Item 1. Financial Information

The information furnished in our accompanying consolidated balance sheets, consolidated statements of operations and consolidated statements
of cash flows reflects all adjustments which are, in our opinion, necessary for a fair presentation of the aforementioned financial statements for
the interim periods.

The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the notes to the financial statements and Management�s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations. The results of operations for the six months ended June 30, 2005 are not necessarily indicative of
the operating results to be expected for the full year.

3
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

June 30,

2005

December 31,
2004

(unaudited)
Assets
Rental property:
Land $ 737,361 $ 779,482
Buildings 1,963,096 2,064,678
Tenant improvements 437,429 448,515
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 46,350 45,879

3,184,236 3,338,554
Less: Accumulated depreciation (757,840) (750,530)

Total rental property 2,426,396 2,588,024

Land held for development or sale 41,718 41,676
Assets held for sale 11,826 �  
Cash and cash equivalents 7,332 4,735
Restricted deposits 2,237 1,364
Accounts and notes receivable, net 54,210 52,438
Investments in unconsolidated entities 164,302 138,127
Accrued straight-line rents 82,471 84,396
Tenant leasing costs, net 50,080 53,908
Intangible assets, net 91,690 98,354
Prepaid expenses and other assets 25,179 18,170

$ 2,957,441 $ 3,081,192

Liabilities, Minority Interest, and Stockholders� Equity
Liabilities:
Mortgages and notes payable, net $ 1,783,725 $ 1,941,130
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 90,847 107,409
Rent received in advance and security deposits 34,907 40,304

Total liabilities 1,909,479 2,088,843

Minority interest 59,617 65,378

Stockholders� equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, authorized 35,000,000 shares:
Series E Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Stock, at redemption value, issued and outstanding, 8,050,000
shares at June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004. 201,250 201,250
Common Stock, $.01 par value, authorized 180,000,000 shares: issued and outstanding 55,707,102 shares at
June 30, 2005 and 54,890,361 shares at December 31, 2004. 557 548
Additional paid-in capital 1,042,804 1,025,388
Cumulative dividends in excess of net income (256,493) (300,500)
Accumulated other comprehensive income - Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities 227 285

Total stockholders� equity 988,345 926,971
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Commitments and contingencies
$ 2,957,441 $ 3,081,192

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

For the Three and Six Months Ended June 30, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Three Months Ended

June 30,

Six Months Ended

June 30,

2005 2004 2005 2004

(unaudited) (unaudited)
Operating revenues:
Rental revenue:
Base rent $ 96,640 $ 95,429 $ 199,777 $ 191,171
Recoveries from tenants 13,727 13,219 28,466 26,658
Parking and other tenant charges 4,171 6,374 7,751 10,479

Total rental revenue 114,538 115,022 235,994 228,308
Real estate service revenue 5,222 5,301 10,795 10,767

Total operating revenues 119,760 120,323 246,789 239,075

Operating expenses:
Property expenses:
Operating expenses 29,764 29,494 60,743 58,176
Real estate taxes 10,059 9,886 21,254 20,601
General and administrative 10,179 10,758 20,928 21,030
Depreciation and amortization 34,644 30,344 69,338 60,930

Total operating expenses 84,646 80,482 172,263 160,737

Real estate operating income 35,114 39,841 74,526 78,338

Other (expense) income:
Interest expense (28,147) (27,835) (57,646) (54,176)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated entities 972 1,749 2,042 3,747
Interest and other income 1,562 530 3,012 1,224

Net other expense (25,613) (25,556) (52,592) (49,205)

Income from continuing operations before income taxes, minority interest, impairment
losses on real estate and gain (loss) on sale of properties 9,501 14,285 21,934 29,133

Income taxes (130) (32) (302) (154)
Minority interest (1,977) (2,139) (3,768) (4,165)
Impairment losses on real estate �  �  (4,000) �  
Gain (loss) on sale of properties 663 (48) 88,757 (58)

Income from continuing operations 8,057 12,066 102,621 24,756
Discontinued operations 3,811 1,941 4,289 4,481
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Net income 11,868 14,007 106,910 29,237

Less: Dividends on preferred and unvested restricted stock (4,044) (3,938) (8,089) (7,877)

Net income available to common shareholders $ 7,824 $ 10,069 $ 98,821 $ 21,360

Basic net income per common share:
Continuing operations $ 0.07 $ 0.15 $ 1.73 $ 0.31
Discontinued operations 0.07 0.04 0.07 0.09

Net income $ 0.14 $ 0.19 $ 1.80 $ 0.40

Diluted net income per common share:
Continuing operations $ 0.07 $ 0.15 $ 1.62 $ 0.31
Discontinued operations 0.07 0.04 0.07 0.08

Net income $ 0.14 $ 0.19 $ 1.69 $ 0.39

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2005 and 2004

(In thousands) 2005 2004

(unaudited)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 106,910 $ 29,237
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 69,670 66,511
Minority interest 3,768 4,165
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated entities (2,042) (3,747)
(Gain) loss on sale of properties (88,757) 58
Gain on sale of properties - discontinued operations (3,773) (66)
Gain on sale of residential property �  (326)
Impairment losses on real estate 4,210 �  
(Recovery of) provision for uncollectible accounts (148) 148
Stock-based compensation 2,754 1,762
Lease intangible amortization 4,022 (601)
Amortization of deferred financing costs 2,222 2,613
Other 906 548
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease in accounts receivable 2,054 9,119
Increase in accrued straight-line rents (2,684) (3,037)
Additions to tenant leasing costs (7,282) (6,966)
Increase in intangible assets, prepaid expenses and other assets (8,111) (11,239)
Decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses (18,883) (12,294)
Decrease in rent received in advance and security deposits (5,511) (369)

Total adjustments (47,585) 46,279

Net cash provided by operating activities 59,325 75,516

Cash flows from investing activities:
Rental property additions (3,649) (3,974)
Additions to tenant improvements (17,052) (23,707)
Additions to land held for development or sale and construction in progress (282) (2,458)
Rental property acquisitions and deposits (16,455) (139,993)
Issuance of notes receivable (8,395) (5,421)
Payments on notes receivable 5,693 2,409
Distributions from unconsolidated entities 4,058 �  
Investments in unconsolidated entities (14,321) (358)
Acquisition of minority interest (4,403) (4,201)
Increase in restricted deposits (873) (373)
Proceeds from sale of residential property 930 2,727
Proceeds from sales of rental properties 212,581 10,512

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 157,832 (164,837)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Exercises of stock options 14,907 31,857
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Repayment of unsecured notes (100,000) �  
Termination of interest rate swap agreement (1,996) �  
Proceeds from issuance of unsecured notes, net of issuance costs �  222,718
Net borrowings (repayments) on unsecured credit facility (56,000) (68,500)
Repayments of mortgages and notes payable (2,927) (25,874)
Dividends and distributions to minority interests (68,544) (66,920)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (214,560) 93,281

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,597 3,960
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period 4,735 4,299

Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period $ 7,332 $ 8,259

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest (net of capitalized interest of $361 for the six months ended June 30, 2004) $ 59,822 $ 51,889

Income tax payments $ 417 $ 358

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

(1) Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Business

We are a fully integrated, self-administered and self-managed publicly traded real estate investment trust organized under Maryland law (�REIT�).
We focus on the acquisition, development, ownership and operation of office properties, located primarily in selected markets across the United
States. Based on property operating income, our most significant markets include Northern California, the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area,
Southern California and Seattle.

In December 2003, our Board of Directors approved a plan to restructure the manner in which we hold our assets by converting to what is
commonly referred to as an umbrella partnership REIT, or UPREIT, structure. On June 30, 2004, we contributed substantially all of our assets to
CarrAmerica Realty Operating Partnership, L.P. (the �Operating Partnership�) in exchange for units of common and preferred partnership interest
in the Operating Partnership. The Operating Partnership assumed substantially all of our liabilities. Since the UPREIT restructuring,
substantially all of our business is conducted through the Operating Partnership and our primary asset is our interest in the Operating
Partnership. As of June 30, 2005, we owned, directly and through a wholly-owned subsidiary, all of the outstanding units of partnership interest
of the Operating Partnership.

(b) Basis of Presentation

The financial statements have been prepared using the accounting policies described in our 2004 annual report on Form 10-K.

Our accounts and those of our controlled subsidiaries and affiliates are consolidated in the financial statements. For entities which are not
variable interest entities, we consolidate those entities in which we own a direct or indirect majority voting interest and where the minority
holders do not have rights to participate in significant decisions that are made in the ordinary course of business. If applicable, we would
consolidate any variable interest entity of which we are the primary beneficiary. We use the equity or cost methods, as appropriate in the
circumstances, to account for our investments in and our share of the earnings or losses of unconsolidated entities. These entities are not
controlled by us. If events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value of an investment accounted for using the equity method or cost
method has declined below its carrying value and we consider the decline to be �other than temporary,� the investment is written down to fair
value and an impairment loss is recognized.

Management has made a number of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in
the financial statements, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Estimates are required in order for us to prepare our financial
statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Significant estimates are required in a number of areas, including
evaluating the impairment of long-lived assets and investments, allocating the purchase cost of acquired properties and evaluating the
collectibility of accounts receivable. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
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(c) Interim Financial Statements

The financial statements reflect all adjustments, which are, in our opinion, necessary to reflect a fair presentation of the results for the interim
periods, and all adjustments are of a normal, recurring nature.
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

(d) Earnings Per Share

The following tables set forth information relating to the computations of our basic and diluted earnings per share (�EPS�) from continuing
operations:

Three Months Ended

June 30, 2005

Three Months Ended

June 30, 2004

(In thousands, except per share amounts) Earnings
(Numerator)

Shares
(Denominator)

Per Share
Amount

Earnings
(Numerator)

Shares
(Denominator)

Per Share
Amount

Basic EPS $ 4,013 54,930 $ 0.07 $ 8,128 54,012 $ 0.15

Stock options �  536 �  327

Diluted EPS $ 4,013 55,466 $ 0.07 $ 8,128 54,339 $ 0.15

Six Months Ended

June 30, 2005

Six Months Ended

June 30, 2004

(In thousands, except per share
amounts) Earnings

(Numerator)
Shares

(Denominator)
Per Share
Amount

Earnings
(Numerator)

Shares
(Denominator)

Per Share
Amount

Basic EPS $ 94,532 54,765 $ 1.73 $ 16,879 53,818 $ 0.31

Stock options �  468 454
Partnership units 3,384 5,211 �  �  

Diluted EPS $ 97,916 60,444 $ 1.62 $ 16,879 54,272 $ 0.31

Income from continuing operations is reconciled to earnings available to common shareholders as follows:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
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June 30, June 30,

(In thousands)
2005 2004 2005 2004

Income from continuing operations $ 8,057 $ 12,066 $ 102,621 $ 24,756
Dividends on preferred stock (3,774) (3,774) (7,548) (7,548)
Dividends on unvested restricted stock (270) (164) (541) (329)

Earnings from continuing operations available to common
shareholders $ 4,013 $ 8,128 $ 94,532 $ 16,879

The effects of units in CarrAmerica Realty, L.P. and Carr Realty Holdings, L.P. that are redeemable for shares of our common stock are not
included in the computation of diluted earnings per share for any period in which their effect is antidilutive.

(e) Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging

On November 20, 2002, in conjunction with the issuance of $175.0 million of our 5.25% senior unsecured notes, we entered into interest rate
swap agreements with JPMorgan Chase Bank, Bank of America, N.A. and Goldman, Sachs & Co. Under the terms of these agreements, we
received interest at a fixed rate of 5.25% and paid interest at a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in arrears plus 1.405%. The interest rate swaps
matured at the same time the notes were due. The swaps qualified as fair value hedges for accounting purposes. We recognized an increase in
interest expense for the six months ended June 30, 2005 of approximately $14,000 related to the swaps. We recognized a reduction in interest
expense for

8

Edgar Filing: CARRAMERICA REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 14



Table of Contents

CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 of approximately $0.6 million and $1.8 million, respectively, related to the swaps. On April 18,
2005, we terminated these swap agreements by paying approximately $2.0 million. This payment is being amortized to interest expense over the
remaining term of the senior unsecured notes which mature November 2007. The effective rate of interest on the notes giving effect to the swap
termination is 5.69%.

On March 18, 2004, in conjunction with the issuance of $225.0 million of our 3.625% senior unsecured notes, we entered into $100.0 million of
interest rate swap agreements with JPMorgan Chase Bank and Bank of America, N.A. Under the terms of these agreements, we receive interest
at a fixed rate of 3.625% and pay interest at a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in arrears plus 0.2675%. The interest rate swaps mature at the
same time the notes are due. The swaps qualify as fair value hedges for accounting purposes. As of June 30, 2005, the fair value of the interest
rate swaps was a payable of approximately $(2.7) million. We recognized an increase in interest expense for the three and six months ended June
30, 2005 of approximately $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively and a reduction in interest expense of approximately $0.2 million and $0.3
million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2004, respectively, related to the swaps. As of June 30, 2005, taking into account the effect
of the interest rate swaps, the effective interest rate on $100.0 million of the notes was 4.23%.

On August 10, 2004, we entered into interest rate lock agreements with a notional amount of $150.0 million with JPMorgan Chase Bank,
Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Morgan Stanley in anticipation of our 5.125% $200.0 million senior unsecured note offering. We settled the interest
rate locks on August 20, 2004 and paid $0.6 million to the counterparties. The interest rate locks qualified as cash flow hedges and are being
amortized to interest expense over the life of our senior unsecured notes due in 2011. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, the
impact of the interest rate locks on interest expense was not material.

In January 2005, we purchased an interest rate cap with a notional amount of $200.0 million and LIBOR capped at 7.5% which expires in
February 2006.

(f) Stock/Unit Compensation Plans

Through 2002, we applied the intrinsic value method of accounting prescribed by Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, �Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees, � and related interpretations to account for our stock/unit compensation plans. Under this method, we recorded
compensation expense for awards of stock, options or units to employees only if the market price of the unit or stock on the grant date exceeded
the amount the employee was required to pay to acquire the unit or stock. Effective January 1, 2003, we adopted the fair value based method of
accounting for stock-based compensation costs. We elected to use the prospective method of transition to the fair value method provided in
SFAS No. 148, �Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation - Transition and Disclosure,� and, accordingly, the method is being applied for all
employee stock compensation awards granted, modified or settled on or after January 1, 2003.

9
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

The following table summarizes pro forma effects on net income and earnings per share if the fair value method had been used to account for all
stock-based compensation awards made between 1995 and 2002.

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended

June 30,

(In thousands, except per share data)
2005 2004 2005 2004

Net income as reported $ 11,868 $ 14,007 $ 106,910 $ 29,237
Stock-based compensation cost from stock option plans
included in net income 37 38 76 76
Stock-based compensation cost from restricted stock plan
included in net income 1,412 819 2,678 1,686
Fair value of stock-based compensation (1,613) (1,140) (3,082) (2,329)

Pro forma net income $ 11,704 $ 13,724 $ 106,582 $ 28,670

Earnings per share as reported:
Basic $ 0.14 $ 0.19 $ 1.80 $ 0.40
Diluted 0.14 0.19 1.69 0.39
Earnings per share, pro forma:
Basic $ 0.14 $ 0.18 $ 1.80 $ 0.39
Diluted 0.14 0.18 1.69 0.38

(g) Revenue Recognition

In a letter dated February 7, 2005 sent by the Chief Accountant of the Securities and Exchange Commission (�Commission�) to the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Chief Accountant addressed a number of issues related to lease accounting by tenants. In that letter,
the Chief Accountant indicated that leasehold improvements made by a tenant that are funded by landlord incentives or allowances under an
operating lease should in certain circumstances be recorded as leasehold improvement assets by the tenant. This letter caused REITs and their
accounting firms to reevaluate their treatment of tenant improvements and lease incentives. Based upon the implications of the Chief
Accountant�s letter, we have concluded that if a tenant improvement is deemed to be owned by the tenant for accounting purposes then we must
record the amounts funded to construct the tenant improvements as a lease incentive instead of as an asset, and as a result, the amount funded
would be amortized as a reduction of rental revenue rather than as an increase to depreciation expense. This change in presentation will have no
effect on our net income.

This consideration of the issues raised in the Chief Accountant�s letter also resulted in examination of when revenue recognition under an
operating lease should begin. Historically, we began to recognize revenue under a lease when possession or control of the space leased was
turned over to our tenant. In instances where our tenant contracted directly with third parties for their tenant improvement work, we determined
that the tenant took possession of the space and we would begin recognizing revenue when we turned over the space to the tenant to begin
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construction. However, after discussions with our registered independent public accounting firm, we have concluded that if we are the owner of
the tenant improvements revenue recognition cannot commence until the leasehold improvements are substantially completed. In contrast, if we
determine that the tenant allowances we are funding are lease incentives, then we will commence revenue recognition when possession or
control of the space is turned over to the tenant for construction to begin.

As a result of this change in the timing of revenue recognition under leases where we own the improvements and where our tenant took
possession or control of the space before the improvements were complete, we reduced base rental revenue previously recorded in the first
quarter of 2005 by approximately $1.0 million. This change did not have a material impact on or require a material adjustment to our audited
financial statements for fiscal years ended on or before December 31, 2004.

10
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

(h) Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications of prior period amounts have been made to conform to the current period�s presentation.

(i) Other Comprehensive Income

We hold stock warrants which we obtained from a former tenant in settlement of its lease obligations. The unrealized gain or loss on these
securities is an item of other comprehensive income.

Comprehensive income is summarized as follows:

Three Months Ended
June 30,

Six Months Ended

June 30,

(In thousands)
2005 2004 2005 2004

Net income $ 11,868 $ 14,007 $ 106,910 $ 29,237
Item of comprehensive income - Unrealized gain (loss) on
securities 33 225 (58) 225

Comprehensive income $ 11,901 $ 14,232 $ 106,852 $ 29,462

(2) Gain on Sale of Properties, Discontinued Operations and Impairment Losses

The tables below summarize property sales for the six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004:

2005

Property Name Sale

Date

Square

Footage

Net Cash

Proceeds

Gain

Recognized
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($000) ($000)

Alton Deere Mar-05 182,561 31,469 9,002
CarrAmerica Corporate Center Mar-05 1,004,679 153,986 77,433
Westlake Spectrum* Apr-05 108,084 20,641 3,773

2004

Property Name

Sale

Date

Square

Footage

Net Cash
Proceeds

($000)

Gain

Recognized
($000)

Tower of the Hills* Mar-04 166,149 10,512 66

 * Included in discontinued operations

During the three months ended June 30, 2005, we disposed of our Westlake Spectrum property. We recognized a gain of approximately $3.8
million on the transaction which is classified as discontinued operations as we have no continuing involvement with the property after the sale.
In June 2005, a joint venture in which we hold a 35% interest sold an office property. We recognized a gain from this sale of $0.8 million which
is classified as continuing operations.

For the six months ended June 30, 2005, we disposed of our Alton Deere and Westlake Spectrum properties, recognizing gains of $12.8 million,
$3.8 million of which is classified as discontinued operations as we have no continuing involvement with Westlake Spectrum after the sale. On
March 31, 2005, we had a partial sale of CarrAmerica Corporate Center to a joint venture in return for a 19% interest in the venture and cash of
approximately $154.0 million. We recognized a gain of $77.4 million on the transaction. We are committed to fund $2.7 million of additional
capital to this venture which will increase our percentage ownership to 20%. We expect to make the capital contribution in 2005. We continue to
manage Alton Deere and CarrAmerica Corporate

11
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CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

Center under management agreements and the gains on these sales and the operating results of these properties are not classified as discontinued
operations due to our continuing involvement. In addition to these sales, there were two sales in joint ventures, the one mentioned above and one
in a joint venture in which we are a 30% partner which sold two floors of a building. We recognized a gain of $1.7 million on this transaction
and received cash proceeds of $6.5 million.

During the six months ended June 30, 2004, we disposed of our Tower of the Hills property. The gain on this sale and the operating results of
this property are classified as discontinued operations as we had no continuing involvement with the property after the sale. We had previously
recognized an impairment loss of $3.0 million on Tower of the Hills in the fourth quarter of 2003.

As stated above, the operating results of our Tower of the Hills property along with our Atlanta portfolio, which we sold in September 2004,
First Street Technology and Valley Business Park I, which we sold in December 2004, and Westlake Spectrum, which we sold in April 2005, are
classified as discontinued operations. In addition, one building in our Phoenix, Arizona portfolio is under contract for sale for approximately
$12.0 million and meets our criteria to be classified as held for sale. After the sale, we will have no continuing involvement with this property
and therefore, its results of operations are classified as discontinued operations. We recognized an impairment loss of $0.2 million on the
Phoenix property during the second quarter of 2005. Operating results of the properties classified as discontinued operations are summarized as
follows:

For the three months ended

June 30,

For the six months ended

June 30,

(In thousands)
2005 2004 2005 2004

Revenue $ 286 $ 7,893 $ 1,199 $ 16,754
Property expenses (27) 3,231 141 6,758
Depreciation and amortization 65 2,721 332 5,581

Net operations of properties sold or held for sale 248 1,941 726 4,415
Impairment loss (210) �  (210) �  
Gain on sale of properties 3,773 �  3,773 66

Discontinued operations $ 3,811 $ 1,941 $ 4,289 $ 4,481

Number of buildings included in discontinued operations 3 21 3 23

During the remainder of 2005, we are, currently or anticipate, marketing several properties for sale. As a result we have reduced our estimated
holding periods for these properties. Of these properties, two, Quorum Place and 5000 Quorum in Dallas, Texas, had book values in excess of
the undiscounted cash flows we expect to receive from the operation and sale of the properties. As a result, we recognized impairment losses of
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$1.8 million and $2.2 million, respectively, on these two properties in the first quarter of 2005. None of the properties which we are marketing,
currently meet our criteria to be classified as held for sale or as discontinued operations.

(3) Assets Held for Sale

As discussed in note 2, as of June 30, 2005, one of our properties in the Phoenix market met our criteria to be classified as held for sale. The sale
of this property is expected to close in the second half of 2005.

12

Edgar Filing: CARRAMERICA REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 21



Table of Contents

CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(Unaudited)

The book value of assets classified as held for sale as of June 30, 2005 are as follows:

(In thousands)

June 30,

2005

Land $ 2,908
Buildings 11,448
Accumulated depreciation (2,898)
Accrued straight-line rent 368

$ 11,826

(4) Acquisitions

In the first six months of 2005, we acquired one operating property from a third party. The acquired property totaled approximately 95,000
rentable square feet and our investment was approximately $16.5 million. The table below details the 2005 acquisition:

Property Name Market

Month

Acquired

Number

of

Buildings

Rentable

Square

Footage

Purchase

Cost

(000)

North Creek Corporate Center Seattle, WA Jun-05 3 95,267 $ 16,455

During the first six months of 2004, we acquired one operating property from a third party. The acquired property totaled approximately 340,000
rentable square feet and our investment was approximately $130.6 million. The table below details the 2004 acquisition:

Property Name Market

Month

Acquired

Number

of

Buildings

Rentable

Square

Footage

Purchase

Cost

(000)

Commonwealth Tower Washington, DC Jun-04 1 339,599 $ 130,593
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The aggregate purchase cost of the properties acquired in the six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 was allocated as follows:

(In thousands)
2005 2004

Land $ 3,810 $ 28,470
In-place lease intangibles 1,498 8,154
Building and tenant improvements 11,408 95,265
Deferred revenue and other (261) (1,296)

$ 16,455 $ 130,593

During April 2005, we entered into a new joint venture arrangement with institutional investors advised by JPMorgan Asset Management. The
joint venture, in which we are a 20% partner, acquired a three building 984,000 rentable square foot property in Addison, Texas for
approximately $153.5 million. Our equity investment, net of debt used to finance the acquisition, was $10.4 million in cash.
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(5) Mortgages and Notes Payable

Our mortgages and notes payable are summarized as follows:

(In thousands) June 30,
2005

December 31,
2004

Fixed rate mortgages $ 260,534 $ 262,930
Notes payable 18,696 19,228
Unsecured credit facility 239,000 295,000
Senior unsecured notes 1,275,000 1,375,000

1,793,230 1,952,158

Unamortized discount and fair value adjustment, net (9,505) (11,028)

$ 1,783,725 $ 1,941,130

We repaid $2.4 million of fixed rate mortgage debt in the first six months of 2005.

On June 30, 2004, we entered into a new $500.0 million, three year unsecured revolving credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank as
administrative agent for a syndicate of banks. The facility replaced, and was used to repay all amounts outstanding under our previous senior
unsecured credit facility. We may increase the facility to $700.0 million by our request at any time within 24 months of the closing, provided the
funding commitments are increased accordingly. The facility can be extended one year at our option. The facility carries an interest rate of 65
basis points over 30-day LIBOR, or 3.99% as of June 30, 2005. As of June 30, 2005, $239.0 million was drawn on the credit facility, $35.9
million in letters of credit were outstanding, and we had $225.1 million available for borrowing.

Our unsecured credit facility contains financial and other covenants with which we must comply. Some of these covenants include:

� A minimum ratio of annual EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) to interest expense of at
least 2 to 1;

� A minimum ratio of annual EBITDA to fixed charges of at least 1.5 to 1;
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� A maximum ratio of aggregate unsecured debt to tangible fair market value of our unencumbered assets of 60%;

� A maximum ratio of total secured debt to tangible fair market value of our assets of 30%;

� A maximum ratio of total debt to tangible fair market value of our assets of 60%; and

� Restrictions on our ability to make dividend distributions in excess of 90% of funds from operations or the minimum amount
necessary to enable us to maintain our status as a REIT.

As of June 30, 2005, we are in compliance with all debt covenants. For the remainder of 2005, we expect our minimum ratio of annual EBITDA
to interest expense to be in compliance but relatively close to the minimum of 2.0 to 1 as a result of space that will be out of service related to a
large new lease in Washington, D.C. and the delayed commencement of revenue recognition on leases that have been executed as a result of our
change in how we recognize revenue. If circumstances change from our current expectations, there can be no assurance we will remain in
compliance with this or our other covenants. During the first quarter of 2005, we amended our credit facility, increasing the maximum ratio of
total debt to tangible fair market value of our assets to 60%. In addition, the capitalization rate used to compute the fair market value of our
assets for purposes of calculating this ratio was decreased from 9.0% to 8.5% for properties located in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area.
Our ability to draw on our unsecured credit facility or to incur other unsecured debt in the future could be restricted by the covenants.
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We have senior unsecured notes outstanding at June 30, 2005 as follows:

(In thousands)

Note

Principal

Unamortized

Discount

Fair Value

Adjustment Total

7.375% notes due in 2007 $ 125,000 $ (289) $ �  $ 124,711
5.261% notes due in 2007 50,000 (72) �  49,928
5.25% notes due in 2007 175,000 (653) �  174,347
3.625% notes due in 2009 225,000 (574) (2,660) 221,766
6.875% notes due in 2008 100,000 (1,101) �  98,899
5.125% notes due in 2011 200,000 (556) �  199,444
7.125% notes due in 2012 400,000 (3,600) �  396,400

$ 1,275,000 $ (6,845) $ (2,660) $ 1,265,495

All of the notes are unconditionally guaranteed by CarrAmerica Realty, L.P., one of our subsidiaries.

Our senior unsecured notes also contain covenants with which we must comply. These covenants include:

� Limits on our total indebtedness on a consolidated basis;

� Limits on our secured indebtedness on a consolidated basis;

� Limits on our required debt service payments; and

� Compliance with the financial covenants of our credit facility.

We were in compliance with our senior unsecured notes covenants as of June 30, 2005.

$100.0 million of senior unsecured notes matured on March 1, 2005 and were repaid on that date using borrowings from our unsecured credit
facility.
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(6) Guarantees

Our obligations under guarantee agreements at June 30, 2005 are summarized as follows:

Type of Guarantee Project Relationship Term
Maximum
Exposure

Carrying
Value

Loan1 575 7th Street Oct-05 $ 30,000,000 $ �  
Loan2 Atlantic Building Mar-07 25,000,000 160,000
Completion3 Atlantic Building Mar-07 60,167,000 250,000
Completion4 Shakespeare Theatre Dec-06 47,458,000 725,000
Loan5 10UCP Nov-06 1,015,000 �  
Loan6 Square 320 Mar-06 19,570,000 165,000

1. Loan guarantee relates to a joint venture in which we have a 30% interest and for which we are the developer. It is a payment guarantee to
the lender on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture defaults on the loan, we may be required to perform under the guarantee. We
have a reimbursement guarantee from the other joint venture partner to repay us its proportionate share (70%) of any monies we pay under
the guarantee.

2. Loan guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a payment guarantee to the lender. If the third
party defaults on the loan, we may be required to perform under the guarantee. We have a security interest in the third party�s interest
in the underlying property. In the event of a default, we can exercise our rights under the security agreement to take title to the
property and sell the property to mitigate our exposure under the guarantee. We have entered into an agreement with the lender that
permits us to acquire the lender�s first position mortgage securing the loan if the third party defaults on the loan and we then make
payment in full to the lender under the guarantee.

3. Completion guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a completion guaranty to the lender. If the third
party defaults on its obligation to construct the building, we may be required to perform. As long as there is no Event of Default under the
loan agreement, the lender will continue to make funds available from the construction loan to complete the project.

4. Completion guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a completion guaranty to the lender and/or
owners. If the third party defaults on its obligation to construct the building, we may be required to perform. As long as there is no Event
of Default under the loan agreement, the lender will continue to make funds available from the construction loan to complete the project.

5. Lease-up guarantee to a lender. Funds related to this guarantee are being held in escrow by a joint venture in which we own a minority
interest.

6. Loan guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a payment guarantee to the lender. If the third
party defaults on the loan, we may be required to perform under the guarantee. We have a security interest in the third party�s interest
in the underlying property. In the event of a default, we can exercise our rights under the security agreement to take title to the
property and sell the property to mitigate our exposure under the guarantee. We have entered into an agreement with the lender that
permits us to acquire the lender�s first position mortgage securing the loan if the third party defaults on the loan and we then make
payment in full to the lender under the guarantee.
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(7) Segment Information

Our only reportable operating segment is real estate property operations. Other business activities and operating segments that are not reportable
are included in other operations. The performance measure we use to assess results for real estate property operations is property operating
income. We define property operating income as total property operating revenue less property expenses, which includes property operating
expenses (other than depreciation and amortization) and real estate taxes. We believe that the presentation of property operating income is
helpful to investors as a measure of operating performance of our office properties because it excludes items that do not relate to or are not
indicative of the operating performance of the properties (including interest and depreciation and amortization) and which can make periodic
comparisons of operating performance more difficult. The real estate property operations segment includes the operation and management of
consolidated rental properties including those classified as discontinued operations.

Operating results of our reportable segment and our other operations for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 are summarized
as follows:

For the three months ended June 30, 2005

(In millions)

Real Estate

Property

Operations

Other

Operations and
Unallocated

Reclassification

-
Discontinued

Operations Total

Revenue $ 114.8 $ 5.2 $ (0.3) $ 119.7
Segment expense 39.8 10.2 �  50.0

Property/Segment operating income (loss) 75.0 (5.0) (0.3) 69.7

Depreciation expense 34.6

Operating income 35.1
Interest expense (28.1)
Other income 2.5
Minority interest and taxes (2.1)
Gain on sale of properties 0.7
Discontinued operations 3.8

Net income $ 11.9
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For the three months ended June 30, 2004

(In millions)

Real Estate

Property

Operations

Other

Operations and

Unallocated

Reclassification
-

Discontinued
Operations Total

Revenue $ 123.0 $ 5.3 $ (7.9) $ 120.4
Segment expense 42.5 10.9 (3.3) 50.1

Property/Segment operating income (loss) 80.5 (5.6) (4.6) 70.3

Depreciation expense 30.4

Operating income 39.9
Interest expense (27.8)
Other income 2.2
Minority interest and taxes (2.2)
Discontinued operations 1.9

Net income $ 14.0

For the six months ended June 30, 2005

(In millions)

Real Estate

Property

Operations

Other

Operations and

Unallocated

Reclassification

-
Discontinued

Operations Total

Revenue $ 237.2 $ 10.8 $ (1.2) $ 246.8
Segment expense 82.1 20.9 �  103.0

Property/Segment operating income (loss) 155.1 (10.1) (1.2) 143.8

Depreciation expense 69.3

Operating income 74.5
Interest expense (57.6)
Other income 5.0
Minority interest and taxes (4.1)
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Gain on sale of properties and impairment losses 84.8
Discontinued operations 4.3

Net income $ 106.9
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For the six months ended June 30, 2004

(In millions)

Real Estate

Property

Operations

Other

Operations and

Unallocated

Reclassification
-

Discontinued

Operations Total

Revenue $ 245.1 $ 10.8 $ (16.8) $ 239.1
Segment expense 85.7 21.0 (6.8) 99.9

Property/Segment operating income (loss) 159.4 (10.2) (10.0) 139.2

Depreciation expense 60.9

Operating income 78.3
Interest expense (54.2)
Other income 5.0
Loss on sale of properties (0.1)
Minority interest and taxes (4.3)
Discontinued operations 4.5

Net income $ 29.2

(8) New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued SFAS No. 154, �Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.� It replaces
Accounting Principle Board Opinion No. 20, �Accounting Changes,� and SFAS No. 3, �Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial
Statements.� SFAS No. 154 changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principles. It requires
retrospective application to prior periods� financial statements of changes in accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to determine either
the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. The statement is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors
made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (R), �Share-Based Compensation.� It replaces SFAS No. 123, �Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.� SFAS No. 123 (R) requires the compensation cost relating to share-based payment transactions be recognized in financial
statements. It is required to be applied by us beginning January 1, 2006. We intend to adopt SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective
application method which requires, among other things, that we recognize compensation cost for all awards outstanding at January 1, 2006, for
which the requisite service has not yet been rendered. Because we have used a fair value based method of accounting for stock-based
compensation costs for all employee stock compensation awards granted, modified or settled since January 1, 2003, and do not expect to have
significant unvested awards from periods prior to January 1, 2003 outstanding at January 1, 2006, adoption of SFAS No. 123 (R) is not expected
to have a material effect on our financial statements.
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In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, �Exchange of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29.� The
amendments made by SFAS No. 153 are based on the principle that exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured on the fair value of
assets exchanged. The statement eliminates the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a broader
exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. The statement is effective for nonmonetary exchanges
occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005.

Emerging Issues Task Force (�EITF�) Issue 04-5, �Investor�s Accounting for an Investment in a Limited Partnership When the Investor Is the Sole
General Partner and the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights� was ratified by the FASB in June 2005. At issue is what rights held by the limited
partner(s) preclude consolidation in circumstances in which the sole general partner would consolidate the limited partnership in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The assessment of limited partners� rights and their impact on the presumption of control of
the limited partnership by the sole general partner should be made when an investor becomes the sole general partner and should be reassessed if
(a) there is a change to the terms or in the exercisability of the rights of the limited partners, (b) the sole general partner increases or decreases its
ownership

18
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of limited partnership interests, or (c) there is an increase or decrease in the number of outstanding limited partnership interests. This Issue is
effective no later than for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005 and as of June 29, 2005 for new or modified arrangements. We do not
expect that we will be required to consolidate any of our current unconsolidated investments nor will this EITF have a material effect on our
financial statements.

(9) Supplemental Cash Flow Information

We converted an investment in an unconsolidated entity to a $1.0 million note receivable during the six months ended June 30, 2005.

We acquired $3.1 million of minority interest units which were redeemed for shares of our common stock during the six months ended June 30,
2004.
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Item 2. Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Introduction

The discussion that follows is based primarily on our consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2004 and for the
three and six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004 and should be read together with our consolidated financial statements and related notes
appearing elsewhere in this report. The ability to compare one period to another may be significantly affected by acquisitions completed,
development properties placed in service and dispositions made during those periods.

After several years of adverse conditions in the commercial office real estate markets, vacancy rates peaked in the majority of our markets in
2003 and then began to improve. In 2005, as a result of continued positive net absorption vacancy rates have continued to decline in all of our
markets except Chicago. As a result of improved office job growth, we believe leasing activity is up significantly, and we believe that market
rental rates have stabilized in all of our markets and have improved in many of our markets including Washington, D.C. and Southern California.
Rental economics are expected to improve in most of our markets for the discernable future.

Due to the improving market conditions described above, occupancy in our portfolio of operating properties increased to 88.3% at June 30, 2005
compared to 87.8% at December 31, 2004 and 87.1% at June 30, 2004. If demand continues to improve in the balance of 2005, we expect that
our overall portfolio average occupancy may improve further. Our occupancy improved slightly in 2005 over 2004 due in part to acquisitions of
properties with higher occupancies and dispositions of certain low occupancy properties. Our same store (properties we owned in both years)
occupancy was 88.5% at June 30, 2005 compared to 87.8% at June 30, 2004. In connection with terminating tenants in the three months ended
June 30, 2005, we earned $1.1 million of termination fees compared to $3.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004. For the six
months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, we earned termination fees of $1.8 million and $5.3 million, respectively. These fees are non-recurring in
nature and while we expect we will earn modest termination fees in 2005, we expect that they will be substantially lower than in 2004.

Not withstanding the improving markets for office space and declining vacancy rates, rental rates on space that was re-leased in 2005 decreased
an average of 16.5% in comparison to rates that were in effect under expiring leases. While market rental rates have stabilized and are improving
in many of our markets, rental rates on in-place leases in certain markets remain significantly above current market rental rates. We estimate that
market rental rates on leased space expiring in 2005 will be, on average, approximately 8%-12% lower than straight-lined rents on expiring
leases. We have 0.8 million square feet of space on which leases are currently scheduled to expire in the remainder of 2005.

During the remainder of 2005, we are currently or anticipate marketing several properties for sale. There can be no assurance any of these sales
will be consummated. We plan to use any proceeds resulting from the sale of any property for the acquisition of other properties or general
corporate purposes.

Although real estate service revenue was flat during the first six months of 2005 compared to 2004, we expect real estate service revenue to be
significantly lower for the full year 2005 than 2004 due to lower development and leasing fees.
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During 2003 and continuing in 2004, we experienced increases in tenant improvement, lease incentive and leasing costs as compared to
historical levels as a result of competitive market conditions. We expect that tenant improvements and lease incentives will continue at high
levels in 2005 due to continuing competitive market conditions. Additionally, we expect to incur unusually high levels of tenant improvements,
lease incentives and lease commissions due to the commencement of a 394,000 square foot lease in Washington, D.C. In connection with this
lease, we expect to incur approximately $5.6 million of tenant improvements, lease incentives and lease commissions in 2005 with an additional
$25.4 million being incurred in 2006. The space was vacated on June 30, 2005 and will be out of service during the period required to prepare
the space for the new tenant, which we estimate to be between two and four months. In addition to high levels of tenant improvements, lease
incentives and commissions, we will not recognize any revenue from the new lease during the period this space is not in service.

In December 2003, our Board of Directors approved a plan to restructure the manner in which we hold our assets by converting to what is
commonly referred to as an umbrella partnership REIT, or UPREIT, structure. To effect the UPREIT restructuring, we formed CarrAmerica
Realty Operating Partnership, L.P., or the Operating Partnership, to which
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we contributed substantially all of our assets on June 30, 2004 in exchange for 100% of the units of common and preferred partnership interest in
the Operating Partnership and the assumption by the Operating Partnership of substantially all of our liabilities, including the assumption of the
obligations under our unsecured credit facility and our senior unsecured notes. At June 30, 2005, we owned all of the outstanding units of
partnership interest of the Operating Partnership.

Since the UPREIT restructuring, substantially all of our business is conducted through the Operating Partnership and our primary asset is our
interest in the Operating Partnership. We undertook the UPREIT restructuring to enable us to better compete with other office REITs, many of
which are structured as UPREITs, for the acquisition of properties from tax-motivated sellers. As a result of the UPREIT restructuring, the
Operating Partnership can issue units of limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership to tax-motivated sellers who contribute
properties to the Operating Partnership, thereby enabling those sellers to realize certain tax benefits that would be unavailable if we purchased
properties directly for cash.

In a letter dated February 7, 2005 sent by the Chief Accountant of the Securities and Exchange Commission (�Commission�) to the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Chief Accountant addressed a number of issues related to lease accounting by tenants. In that letter,
the Chief Accountant indicated that leasehold improvements made by a tenant that are funded by landlord incentives or allowances under an
operating lease should in certain circumstances be recorded as leasehold improvement assets by the tenant. This letter caused REITs and their
accounting firms to reevaluate their treatment of tenant improvements and lease incentives. Based upon the implications of the Chief
Accountant�s letter, we have concluded that if a tenant improvement is deemed to be owned by the tenant for accounting purposes then we must
record the amounts funded to construct the tenant improvements as a lease incentive instead of as an asset, and as a result, the amount funded
would be amortized as a reduction of rental revenue rather than as an increase to depreciation expense. This change in presentation will have no
effect on our net income.

This consideration of the issues raised in the Chief Accountant�s letter also resulted in examination of when revenue recognition under an
operating lease should begin. Historically, we began to recognize revenue under a lease when possession or control of the space leased was
turned over to our tenant. In instances where our tenant contracted directly with third parties for their tenant improvement work, we determined
that the tenant took possession of the space and we would begin recognizing revenue when we turned over the space to the tenant to begin
construction. However, after discussions with our registered independent public accounting firm, we have concluded that if we are the owner of
the tenant improvements revenue recognition cannot commence until the leasehold improvements are substantially completed. In contrast, if we
determine that the tenant allowances we are funding are lease incentives, then we will commence revenue recognition when possession or
control of the space is turned over to the tenant for construction to begin.

As a result of this change in the timing of revenue recognition under leases where we own the improvements and where our tenant took
possession or control of the space before the improvements were complete, we reduced base rental revenue previously recorded in the first
quarter of 2005 by approximately $1.0 million. This change did not have a material impact on or require a material adjustment to our audited
financial statements for fiscal years ended on or before December 31, 2004.

General

During the six months ended June 30, 2005 we completed the following significant transactions:
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� We retired $100.0 million of senior unsecured notes with proceeds from our unsecured line of credit.

� We acquired one operating property (three buildings) with 95,000 rentable square feet for approximately $16.8 million.

� We had a partial sale of one operating property (seven buildings) with 1.0 million rentable square feet to a joint venture in
exchange for a 19% interest and cash proceeds of approximately $154.0 million.

� We disposed of two operating properties (eight buildings) generating net proceeds of approximately $52.1 million.

� We entered into a new joint venture arrangement with institutional investors advised by JPMorgan Asset Management. The joint
venture, in which we are a 20% partner, acquired a three building 984,000 rentable square foot property in Addison, Texas for
approximately $153.5 million. Our equity investment, net of debt used to finance the acquisition, was $10.4 million in cash.

� A joint venture in which we are a 30% partner sold two floors of a building. We received cash of $6.5 million from the partial
sale.
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� A joint venture in which we are a 35% partner sold a building. We recognized a gain of $0.8 million on the sale.

During the six months ended June 30, 2004 we completed the following significant transactions:

� We issued $225.0 million principal amount of 3.625% senior unsecured notes with net proceeds of approximately $222.7 million
which were used to pay down amounts outstanding under our unsecured line of credit. The notes mature April 1, 2009.

� We entered into a $100.0 million interest rate swap in connection with the issuance of the 3.625% senior unsecured notes which
qualifies for fair value hedge accounting.

� We disposed of one operating property generating net proceeds of approximately $10.5 million.

� We purchased one 345,000 rentable square foot operating property for $130.6 million.

� We entered into a three year $500.0 million unsecured revolving credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank as administrative
agent for a syndicate of banks.

� We completed our corporate restructuring.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Critical accounting policies and estimates are those that are both important to the presentation of our financial condition and results of operations
and require management�s most difficult, complex or subjective judgments. Our critical accounting policies and estimates relate to estimating the
depreciable lives of assets, evaluating the impairment of long-lived assets and investments, allocating the purchase cost of acquired properties
and evaluating the collectibility of accounts receivable.

Depreciation of rental properties is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated lives of our
assets by class are as follows:

Base building 30 to 50 years
Building components 7 to 20 years
Tenant improvements Lesser of the terms of the leases or useful lives of the

assets
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 to 15 years

We make subjective assessments as to the useful lives of our assets. These assessments have a direct impact on our net income. Should we
lengthen the expected useful life of an asset, it would be depreciated over a longer period, resulting in less depreciation expense and higher
annual net income. Should we shorten the expected useful life of an asset, it would be depreciated over a shorter period, resulting in more
depreciation expense and lower annual net income.
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We assess the carrying value of our long-lived assets on a regular basis. If events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of
a rental property to be held and used or land held for development may be impaired, we perform a recoverability analysis based on estimated
undiscounted cash flows to be generated from the property in the future. If the analysis indicates that the carrying value is not recoverable from
future cash flows, the property and related assets, such as tenant improvements, lease commissions and in-place lease intangibles, are written
down to estimated fair value and an impairment loss is recognized. If we decide to sell rental properties or land holdings, we evaluate the
recoverability of the carrying amounts of the assets. If the evaluation indicates that the carrying value is not recoverable from estimated net sales
proceeds, the property and related assets are written down to estimated fair value less costs to sell and an impairment loss is recognized. Our
estimates of cash flows and fair values of the properties are based on current market conditions and consider matters such as rental rates and
occupancies for comparable properties, recent sales data for comparable properties and, where applicable, contracts or the results of negotiations
with purchasers or prospective purchasers. Changes in estimated future cash flows due to changes in our plans or views of market and economic
conditions could result in recognition of additional impairment losses which, under applicable accounting guidance, could be substantial. During
the remainder of 2005, we are, currently or anticipate, marketing several properties for sale. As a result, we have reduced our estimated holding
periods for these properties. Of these properties, two, Quorum Place and 5000 Quorum in Dallas, Texas, had book values in excess of the
undiscounted cash flows we expect to receive from the operation and sale of the properties. We recognized impairment losses of $1.8 million
and $2.2 million, respectively, on these two properties in the first quarter of 2005.
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We allocate the purchase cost of acquired properties to the related physical assets and in-place leases based on their fair values. The fair values
of acquired office buildings are determined on an �if-vacant� basis considering a variety of factors, including the physical condition and quality of
the buildings, estimated rental and absorption rates, estimated future cash flows and valuation assumptions consistent with current market
conditions. The �if-vacant� fair value is allocated to land, where applicable, buildings, tenant improvements and equipment based on property tax
assessments and other relevant information obtained in connection with the acquisition of the property.

The fair value of in-place leases includes the effect of leases with above or below market rents, where applicable, customer relationship value
and the cost of acquiring existing tenants at the date of acquisition. Above market and below market in-place lease values are determined on a
lease by lease basis based on the present value (using an interest rate which reflects the risks associated with the leases acquired) of the
difference between (a) the contractual amounts to be paid under the lease and (b) our estimate of the fair market lease rate for the corresponding
space over the remaining non-cancellable terms of the related leases. The capitalized below market lease values are amortized as an increase to
rental revenue over the initial term and any below market renewal periods of the related leases. Capitalized above market lease values are
amortized as a decrease to rental revenue over the initial term of the related leases. Customer relationship values are determined based on our
evaluation of the specific characteristics of each tenant�s lease and our overall relationship with the tenant. Characteristics we consider include
the nature and extent of our existing business relationships with the tenant, prospects for developing new business with the tenant, the tenant�s
credit quality and expectations of lease renewals. The value of customer relationship intangibles is amortized to expense over the lesser of the
initial lease term and any expected renewal periods or the remaining useful life of the building. We determine the fair value of the cost of
acquiring existing tenants by estimating the lease commissions avoided by having in-place tenants and the avoided lost operating income for the
estimated period required to lease the space occupied by existing tenants at the acquisition date. The cost of acquiring existing tenants is
amortized to expense over the initial term of the respective leases. Should a tenant terminate its lease early, the unamortized portion of the
in-place lease value is charged to expense. Changes in the assumptions used in the allocation of the purchase cost among the acquired assets
would affect the timing of recognition of the related revenue and expenses.

Our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable is established based on analysis of the risk of loss on specific accounts. The analysis places
particular emphasis on past-due accounts and considers information such as the nature and age of the receivable, the payment history of the
tenant or other debtor, the amount of security we hold, the financial condition of the tenant and our assessment of its ability to meet its lease
obligations, the basis for any disputes and the status of related negotiations, etc. Our estimate of the required allowance, which is reviewed on a
quarterly basis, is subject to revision as these factors change and is sensitive to the effects of economic and market conditions on our tenants,
particularly in our largest markets (i.e., the San Francisco Bay and Washington, D.C. Metro areas).

Results Of Operations

Property Operating Revenue

Property operating revenue is summarized as follows:

For the three months ended

June 30, Variance

For the six months ended

June 30, Variance
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(In millions)
2005 2004

2005 vs.
2004 2005 2004

2005 vs.
2004

Minimum base rent $ 96.6 $ 95.4 $ 1.2 $ 199.8 $ 191.2 $ 8.6
Recoveries from tenants 13.7 13.2 0.5 28.5 26.7 1.8
Parking and other tenant charges 4.2 6.4 (2.2) 7.8 10.5 (2.7)
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Property operating revenue is composed of minimum base rent from our office buildings, revenue from the recovery of operating expenses from
our tenants and other revenue such as parking and termination fees. Occupancy in our consolidated buildings by market as of June 30, 2005 and
2004 was as follows:

June 30, 2005 June 30, 2004 Variance

Market

Rentable
Sq.

Footage

Percent

Leased

Rentable
Sq.

Footage

Percent

Leased

Rentable Sq.

Footage

Percent

Leased

Washington, DC 4,246,493 98.0 4,056,273 95.7 190,220 2.3
Chicago 1,222,099 62.7 1,225,589 64.9 (3,490) (2.2)
Atlanta �  �  1,696,757 79.6 (1,696,757) (79.6)
Dallas 998,114 86.9 1,005,695 84.8 (7,581) 2.1
Austin 264,822 83.5 265,901 70.1 (1,079) 13.4
Denver 899,185 93.1 904,717 91.2 (5,532) 1.9
Phoenix 532,506 100.0 532,506 100.0 �  �  
Portland 275,192 81.8 275,193 81.8 (1) �  
Seattle 1,587,917 75.8 1,500,938 78.9 86,979 (3.1)
Salt Lake City 627,303 95.6 628,399 84.8 (1,096) 10.8
San Francisco 5,309,452 86.7 5,667,864 87.7 (358,412) (1.0)
Los Angeles 548,821 82.3 659,604 79.4 (110,783) 2.9
Orange County 781,785 98.8 970,508 95.7 (188,723) 3.1
San Diego 1,314,450 90.2 1,192,063 94.5 122,387 (4.3)

Total 18,608,139 88.3 20,582,007 87.1 (1,973,868) 1.2

Minimum Base Rent

Minimum base rent increased $1.2 million (1.3%) in the second quarter of 2005 compared to 2004. The increase in minimum base rent in 2005
was due primarily to rents from buildings acquired in 2005 and 2004 ($8.9 million) partially offset by sales of properties ($6.0 million), lower
rental rates on new leases ($1.9 million) and a reduction in minimum base rent as a result of the change in timing of minimum base rent
recognition with respect to certain leases under which our tenants are constructing their own improvements ($1.0 million). For a more detailed
discussion of the impact of these revenue recognition timing changes, please refer to the discussion included in the introduction to the
Management�s Discussion and Analysis.

Minimum base rent increased $8.6 million (4.5%) in the first half of 2005 compared to 2004. The increase in minimum base rent in 2005 was
due primarily to rents from buildings acquired in 2005 and 2004 ($18.0 million) partially offset by sales of properties ($6.7 million) and
vacancies and lower rental rates on new leases ($2.7 million). We expect minimum base rent to be under downward pressure during the
remainder of the year as a result of re-leasing space at significantly lower rates than those rates that were in effect under expiring leases.
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Our lease rollover by square footage and rent at June 30, 2005 is as follows:

Leased Sq.
Footage1

Rent
($000)

2005 833,729 14,294
2006 2,628,981 67,716
2007 2,339,161 55,673
2008 2,195,858 43,829
2009 2,700,749 54,633
2010 1,528,288 32,698
2011 1,048,774 27,617
2012 965,709 24,283
2013 524,071 14,655
2014 500,214 9,878
2015 and thereafter 1,165,172 51,983

16,430,706 397,259

1 Does not include vacant space at 6/30/05 - 2.2 million sq. ft.
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Recoveries from Tenants

Recoveries from tenants increased $0.5 million (3.8%) in the second quarter of 2005 from 2004. The increase in recoveries from tenants is
primarily the result of recoveries from tenants in buildings acquired in 2005 and 2004 ($1.4 million) partially offset by sales of properties ($0.9
million).

Recoveries from tenants increased $1.8 million (6.7%) in the first half of 2005 from 2004. The increase in recoveries from tenants is primarily
the result of recoveries from tenants in buildings acquired in 2005 and 2004 ($3.2 million) partially offset by sales of properties ($0.8 million).

Parking and Other Tenant Charges

Parking and other tenant charges decreased $2.2 million (34.4%) in the second quarter of 2005 from 2004 due primarily to a reduction in lease
termination fees. Lease termination fees were $1.1 million in the second quarter of 2005 and $3.7 million in the second quarter of 2004. Parking
and other tenant charges decreased $2.7 million (25.7%) in the first half of 2005 from 2004 due primarily to a reduction in lease termination
fees. Lease termination fees were $1.8 million in 2005 and $5.3 million in 2004. Lease termination fees are paid by a tenant in exchange for our
agreement to terminate the lease or pursuant to a termination provision in its lease document. Vacancies created as a result of these terminations
negatively impact future rents until the space is relet.

Property Expenses

Property expenses are summarized as follows:

For the three months ended
June 30, Variance

For the six months ended
June 30, Variance

(In millions)
2005 2004

2005 vs.
2004 2005 2004

2005 vs.
2004

Property operating expenses $ 29.8 $ 29.5 $ 0.3 $ 60.7 $ 58.2 $ 2.5
Real estate taxes 10.1 9.9 0.2 21.3 20.6 0.7

Property operating expenses increased $0.3 million (1.0%) in the second quarter of 2005 from 2004 due primarily to expenses related to
buildings acquired in 2005 and 2004 ($1.8 million) and increased operating services expenses ($1.0 million) partially offset by sales of
properties ($2.1 million) and lower insurance expense ($0.4 million).
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Property operating expenses increased $2.5 million (4.3%) in the first half of 2005 from 2004 due primarily to expenses related to buildings
acquired in 2005 and 2004 ($3.6 million) and increased operating services expenses ($2.2 million) partially offset by sales of properties ($2.1
million) and lower insurance expense ($1.2 million).

Real estate taxes increased $0.2 million (2.0%) in the second quarter of 2005 from 2004. The increase was due primarily to the impact of
property acquisitions ($0.8 million) partially offset by lower property tax assessments principally in California and sales of properties.

Real estate taxes increased $0.7 million (3.4%) in the first half of 2005 from 2004. The increase was due primarily to the impact of property
acquisitions ($2.0 million) partially offset by lower property tax assessments principally in California and sales of properties.

Property Operating Income

Property operating income is the performance measure used to assess the results of our real estate property operations segment. We believe that
the presentation of property operating income is helpful to investors as a measure of the operating performance of our office properties because
it excludes items that do not relate to or are not indicative of operating performance of the properties (including interest and depreciation and
amortization) and which can make periodic comparisons of operating performance more difficult. Property operating income, defined as
property operating revenue less property expenses, is summarized as follows:

25

Edgar Filing: CARRAMERICA REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 46



Table of Contents

Management�s Discussion and Analysis

For the three months ended
June 30,

Variance
2005 vs.

For the six months ended
June 30,

Variance
2005 vs.

(In millions)
2005 2004 2004 2005 2004 2004

Property operating income $ 74.7 $ 75.6 $ (0.9) $ 154.0 $ 149.5 $ 4.5
Property operating income percent 65.2% 65.7% -0.5% 65.3% 65.5% -0.2%

Property operating income decreased $0.9 million (1.2%) in the second quarter of 2005 from 2004 due primarily to the impact of declining rental
rates on new leases partially offset by the impact of properties acquired in 2005 and 2004. Property operating income as a percentage of property
operations revenue was slightly lower at 65.2% compared to 65.7% for the second quarter of 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Property operating income increased $4.5 million (3.0%) in the first half of 2005 from 2004 due primarily to the impact of properties acquired in
2005 and 2004 partially offset by the impact of declining rental rates on new leases. Property operating income as a percentage of property
operations revenue remained relatively stable at 65.3% for the first half of 2005 compared to 65.5% 2004.

Real Estate Service Revenue

Real estate service revenue, which includes our third party property management services and our development services, decreased $0.1 million
in the second quarter of 2005 from 2004 and was flat for the first half of 2005 compared to 2004.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense decreased $0.6 million in the second quarter of 2005 as compared to 2004. The decrease was due primarily
to lower legal expenses ($0.5 million). In 2004, legal expenses included costs associated with our UPREIT restructuring.

General and administrative expense decreased $0.1 million in the first half of 2005 as compared to 2004. The decrease was due primarily to
lower legal expenses ($1.1 million) partially offset by the settlement of litigation ($1.2 million). In 2004, legal expenses included costs
associated with our UPREIT restructuring.

Depreciation and Amortization
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Depreciation and amortization increased $4.3 million (14.2%) in the second quarter of 2005 compared to the second quarter of 2004 and $8.4
million (13.8%) in the first half of 2005 compared to the first half of 2004. This increase was due primarily to the effects of the depreciation and
amortization related to buildings acquired in 2005 and 2004, including the amortization of related intangible assets.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased $0.3 million (1.1%) during the second quarter of 2005 compared to 2004. This increase was due primarily to higher
average levels of debt outstanding ($0.2 million) as a result of our 2005 and 2004 property acquisitions and lower capitalized interest ($0.2
million) partially offset by lower average interest rates ($0.1 million).

Interest expense increased $3.5 million (6.4%) during the first half of 2005 compared to 2004. This increase was due primarily to higher average
levels of debt outstanding ($4.0 million) as a result of our 2005 and 2004 property acquisitions and lower capitalized interest ($0.4 million)
partially offset by lower average interest rates ($0.9 million).

Other Income

Other income was $2.5 million in the second quarter of 2005 compared to $2.3 million in the second quarter of 2004 due primarily to increased
interest income from our notes receivable ($1.0 million) partially offset by lower equity in earnings of our unconsolidated joint ventures ($0.8
million).

Other income was $5.1 million in the first half of 2005 compared to $5.0 million in the first half of 2004 due primarily to increased interest
income from our notes receivable ($1.8 million) partially offset by lower equity in earnings of our unconsolidated joint ventures ($1.7 million).
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Gain on Sale of Properties and Discontinued Operations

The tables below summarize property sales for the six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004:

2005

Property Name

Sale
Date

Square
Footage

Net Cash
Proceeds

($000)

Gain
Recognized

($000)

Alton Deere Mar-05 182,561 31,469 9,002
CarrAmerica Corporate Center Mar-05 1,004,679 153,986 77,433
Westlake Spectrum* Apr-05 108,084 20,641 3,773

2004

Property Name

Sale
Date

Square
Footage

Net Cash
Proceeds

($000)

Gain
Recognized

($000)

Tower of the Hills* Mar-04 166,149 10,512 66

* Included in discontinued operations

During the three months ended June 30, 2005, we disposed of our Westlake Spectrum property. We recognized a gain of approximately $3.8
million on the transaction which is classified as discontinued operations as we have no continuing involvement with the property after the sale.
In June 2005, a joint venture in which we hold a 35% interest sold an office property. We recognized a gain from this sale of $0.8 million which
is classified as continuing operations.

For the six months ended June 30, 2005, we disposed of our Alton Deere and Westlake Spectrum properties, recognizing gains of $12.8 million,
$3.8 million of which is classified as discontinued operations as we have no continuing involvement with Westlake Spectrum after the sale. On
March 31, 2005, we had a partial sale of CarrAmerica Corporate Center to a joint venture in return for a 19% interest in the venture and cash of
approximately $154.0 million. We recognized a gain of $77.4 million on the transaction. We are committed to fund $2.7 million of additional
capital to this venture which will increase our percentage ownership to 20%. We expect to make the capital contribution in 2005. We continue to
manage Alton Deere and CarrAmerica Corporate Center under management agreements and the gains on these sales and the operating results of
these properties are not classified as discontinued operations due to our continuing involvement. In addition to these sales, there were two sales
in joint ventures, the one mentioned above and one in a joint venture in which we are a 30% partner which sold two floors of a building. We
recognized a gain of $1.7 million on this transaction and received cash proceeds of $6.5 million.

During the six months ended June 30, 2004, we disposed of our Tower of the Hills property. The gain on this sale and the operating results of
this property are classified as discontinued operations as we had no continuing involvement with the property after the sale. We had previously
recognized an impairment loss of $3.0 million on Tower of the Hills in the fourth quarter of 2003.
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As stated above, the operating results of our Tower of the Hills property along with our Atlanta portfolio, which we sold in September 2004,
First Street Technology and Valley Business Park I, which we sold in December 2004, and Westlake Spectrum, which we sold in April 2005, are
classified as discontinued operations. In addition, one building in our Phoenix, Arizona portfolio is under contract for sale for approximately
$12.0 million and meets our criteria to be classified as held for sale. After the sale, we will have no continuing involvement with this property
and therefore, its results of operations are classified as discontinued operations. We recognized an impairment loss of $0.2 million on the
Phoenix property during the second quarter of 2005. Operating results of the properties classified as discontinued operations are summarized as
follows:
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For the three months ended

June 30,

For the six months ended

June 30,

(In thousands)
2005 2004 2005 2004

Revenue $ 286 $ 7,893 $ 1,199 $ 16,754
Property expenses (27) 3,231 141 6,758
Depreciation and amortization 65 2,721 332 5,581

Net operations of properties sold or held for sale 248 1,941 726 4,415
Impairment loss (210) �  (210) �  
Gain on sale of properties 3,773 �  3,773 66

Discontinued operations $ 3,811 $ 1,941 $ 4,289 $ 4,481

Number of buildings included in discontinued operations 3 21 3 23

During the remainder of 2005, we are, currently or anticipate, marketing several properties for sale. As a result we have reduced our estimated
holding periods for these properties. Of these properties, two, Quorum Place and 5000 Quorum in Dallas, Texas, had book values in excess of
the undiscounted cash flows we expect to receive from the operation and sale of the properties. As a result, we recognized impairment losses of
$1.8 million and $2.2 million, respectively, on these two properties in the first quarter of 2005. None of the properties which we are marketing,
currently meet our criteria to be classified as held for sale or as discontinued operations.

Consolidated Cash Flows

Consolidated cash flow information is summarized as follows:

For the six months ended

June 30,

Variance

2005 vs.

2004
(In millions)

2005 2004

Cash provided by operating activities $ 59.3 $ 75.5 $ (16.2)
Cash provided by (used in) investing activities 157.8 (164.8) 322.6
Cash (used in) provided by financing activities (214.6) 93.3 (307.9)

Operations generated $59.3 million of net cash for the first six months of 2005 compared to $75.5 million in 2004. The change in cash flow from
operating activities was primarily the result of fluctuations in working capital primarily in accounts payable and accrued expenses.
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Our investing activities provided net cash of $157.8 million in 2005 and used net cash of $164.8 million in 2004. The change in cash used in
investing activities in 2005 was due primarily to increased proceeds from sales of properties ($200.3 million), reduced property acquisitions
($123.5 million), reduced rental property additions including tenant improvements and construction in progress ($9.2 million) and increased
distributions from unconsolidated entities ($4.0 million) partially offset by increased investment in unconsolidated entities ($14.0 million).

Our financing activities used net cash of $214.6 million in 2005 and provided $93.3 million in 2004. The change in net cash from financing
activities in 2005 was due primarily to a decrease in stock option exercises ($17.0 million), higher dividends ($1.6 million) and higher net
repayments of debt ($289.3 million).

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

General

Our primary sources of capital are our real estate operations and our unsecured credit facility. As of June 30, 2005, we had approximately $7.3
million in cash and cash equivalents and $225.1 million available for borrowing under our unsecured credit facility. We derive substantially all
of our revenue from tenants under leases at our properties. Our operating cash flow therefore depends materially on the rents that we are able to
charge to our tenants, and the ability of these tenants to make their rental payments.

Our primary uses of cash are to fund distributions to stockholders, to fund capital investment in our existing portfolio of operating assets, and to
fund new acquisitions and our development activities. As a REIT, we are required to
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distribute at least 90% of our taxable income to our stockholders on an annual basis. We also regularly require capital to invest in our existing
portfolio of operating assets in connection with large-scale renovations, routine capital improvements, deferred maintenance on properties we
have recently acquired, and our leasing activities, including funding tenant improvements, allowances and leasing commissions. The amounts of
the leasing-related expenditures can vary significantly depending on negotiations with tenants and the willingness of tenants to pay higher base
rents over the life of the leases.

During the remainder of 2005, we expect that we will have significant capital requirements, including the following items. There can be no
assurance that our capital requirements will not be materially higher or lower than these expectations.

� Funding dividends on our common and preferred stock and making distributions to third party unit holders in certain of our
subsidiaries;

� Approximately $58 -$78 million to invest in our existing portfolio of operating assets, including approximately $54 -$69 million
tenant-related capital requirements; and

� Approximately $2 -$7 million to fund mezzanine loans we have committed to make in connection with two projects for which we are
providing development management services.

We expect to meet our capital requirements using cash generated by our real estate operations, by borrowings on our unsecured credit facility,
and from proceeds from the sale of properties. We could also raise additional debt or equity capital in the public market or fund acquisitions of
properties through property-specific mortgage debt.

We believe that we will generate sufficient cash flow from operations and the possible disposition of assets and have access to the capital
resources necessary to expand and develop our business, to fund our operating and administrative expenses, to continue to meet our debt service
obligations, to pay dividends in accordance with REIT requirements, to acquire additional properties and land, and to pay for construction in
progress. If we cannot raise the expected funds from the sale of properties and/or if we are unable to obtain capital from other sources, we may
not be able to pay the dividend required under the terms of our preferred stock or to maintain our status as a REIT, make required principal and
interest payments, make strategic acquisitions or make necessary routine capital improvements with respect to our existing portfolio of operating
assets. Also if, as a result of general economic downturns, our credit rating is downgraded, rental rates on new leases are significantly lower than
expiring leases or our properties do not otherwise perform as expected, we may not generate sufficient cash flow from operations or otherwise
have access to capital on favorable terms, or at all. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition,
results of operations and the trading prices of our securities. In addition, if a property is mortgaged to secure payment of indebtedness and we are
unable to meet mortgage payments, the holder of the mortgage could foreclose on the property, resulting in loss of income and asset value. An
unsecured lender could also attempt to foreclose on some of our assets in order to receive payment. In most cases, very little of the principal
amount that we borrow is repaid prior to the maturity of the loan. We may refinance that debt when it matures, or we may pay off the loan. If
principal amounts due at maturity cannot be refinanced, extended or paid with proceeds of other capital transactions, such as new equity capital,
our cash flow may be insufficient to repay all maturing debt. Prevailing interest rates or other factors at the time of a refinancing (such as
possible reluctance of lenders to make commercial real estate loans) may result in higher interest rates and increased interest expense.

Capital Structure
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We manage our capital structure to reflect a flexible long-term investment approach, generally seeking to match the stable return nature of our
assets with a mix of equity and various debt instruments. We expect that our capital structure will allow us to obtain additional capital from
diverse sources that could include additional equity offerings of common stock and/or preferred stock, public and private debt financings and
possible asset dispositions. Our ability to raise funds through sales of debt and equity securities is dependent on, among other things, general
economic conditions, general market conditions for REITs, rental rates, occupancy levels, market perceptions about us, our debt rating and the
current trading price of our stock. We will continue to analyze which source of capital is most advantageous to us at any particular point in time,
but the capital markets may not consistently be available on terms that are attractive.

In December 2003, our Board of Directors approved a plan to restructure the manner in which we hold our assets by converting to what is
commonly referred to as an umbrella partnership REIT, or UPREIT, structure. To effect the UPREIT restructuring, we formed CarrAmerica
Realty Operating Partnership, L.P., or the Operating Partnership, to which we contributed substantially all of our assets on June 30, 2004 in
exchange for 100% of the units of common and preferred partnership interest in the Operating Partnership and the assumption by the Operating
Partnership of substantially all of our liabilities, including the assumption of the obligations under our unsecured credit facility and our senior
unsecured notes. At June 30, 2005, we owned all of the outstanding units of partnership interest of the Operating Partnership.
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Since the UPREIT restructuring, substantially all of our business is conducted through the Operating Partnership and our primary asset is our
interest in the Operating Partnership. We undertook the UPREIT restructuring to enable us to better compete with other office REITs, many of
which are structured as UPREITs, for the acquisition of properties from tax-motivated sellers. As a result of the UPREIT restructuring, the
Operating Partnership can issue units of limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership to tax-motivated sellers who contribute
properties to the Operating Partnership, thereby enabling those sellers to realize certain tax benefits that would be unavailable if we purchased
properties directly for cash.

The Operating Partnership is capitalized through the issuance of units. We serve as the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership and
currently own the general partnership interest and substantially all of the common limited partnership interest. Our wholly owned subsidiary,
CarrAmerica OP, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, owns a nominal common limited partnership interest in the Operating Partnership.
Together, we and CarrAmerica OP, LLC own a number of common units in the Operating Partnership equal to the number of shares of our
common stock outstanding. In connection with the UPREIT conversion, the Operating Partnership issued to us 8,050,000 Series E Cumulative
Redeemable Preferred Partnership Units with terms that are substantially the same as the economic terms of our Series E preferred stock.

The Operating Partnership is managed by us as the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership. Even if we in the future admit additional
limited partners, as the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership, we will generally have the exclusive power under the partnership
agreement to manage and conduct the business of the Operating Partnership, subject to certain limited approval and voting rights of the limited
partners, in most cases including us.

Real Estate Operations

After several years of adverse conditions in the commercial office real estate markets, vacancy rates peaked in the majority of our markets in
2003 and then began to improve. In 2005, as a result of continued positive net absorption vacancy rates have continued to decline in all of our
markets except Chicago. As a result of improved office job growth, we believe leasing activity is up significantly, and we believe that market
rental rates have stabilized in all of our markets and have improved in many of our markets including Washington, D.C. and Southern California.
Rental economics are expected to improve in most of our markets for the discernable future.

Due to the improving market conditions described above, occupancy in our portfolio of operating properties increased to 88.3% at June 30, 2005
compared to 87.8% at December 31, 2004 and 87.1% at June 30, 2004. If demand continues to improve in the balance of 2005, we expect that
our overall portfolio average occupancy may improve further. Our occupancy improved slightly in 2005 over 2004 due in part to acquisitions of
properties with higher occupancies and dispositions of certain low occupancy properties. Our same store (properties we owned in both years)
occupancy was 88.5% at June 30, 2005 compared to 87.8% at June 30, 2004. In connection with terminating tenants in the three months ended
June 30, 2005, we earned $1.1 million of termination fees compared to $3.7 million for the three months ended June 30, 2004. For the six
months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, we earned termination fees of $1.8 million and $5.3 million, respectively. These fees are non-recurring in
nature and while we expect we will earn modest termination fees in 2005, we expect that they will be substantially lower than in 2004.

Rental rates on space that was re-leased in 2005 decreased an average of 16.5% in comparison to rates that were in effect under expiring leases.
While market rental rates have stabilized and are improving in many of our markets, rental rates on in-place leases in certain markets remain
significantly above current market rental rates. We estimate that market rental rates on leased space expiring in 2005 will be, on average,
approximately 8%-12% lower than straight-lined rents on expiring leases. We have 0.8 million square feet of space on which leases are currently
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scheduled to expire in the remainder of 2005.

The International Monetary Fund vacated approximately 500,000 square feet in one property in Washington, D.C. on June 30, 2005. Base rental
income associated with this lease was approximately $1.5 million per month. Approximately 80% of this space has been leased to a new tenant.
However, the new lease requires the space to be taken out of service for a period of two to four months to complete building improvements for
the new tenant, includes eight months of abated rent and requires significant capital investment in tenant improvements, lease incentives and
lease commissions. As a result, we expect this vacancy and abatement of rent to have a significant negative impact on our operating cash flows
and results of operations during the second half of 2005.
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Debt Financing

We generally use unsecured, corporate-level debt, including senior unsecured notes and our unsecured credit facility, to meet our borrowing
needs. As a component of this financing strategy, we continue to unencumber our assets where possible by repaying existing mortgage debt with
unsecured debt. As of June 30, 2005, we had reduced our fixed rate mortgage debt to approximately $260.5 million, or 14.5% of our total debt,
from $347.6 million, or 18.6% of our total debt, as of June 30, 2004.

We generally use fixed rate debt instruments in order to match the returns from our real estate assets. We also utilize variable rate debt for
short-term financing purposes or to protect against the risk, at certain times, that fixed rates may overstate our long-term costs of borrowing if
assumed inflation or growth in the economy implicit in higher fixed interest rates do not materialize. At times, our mix of variable and fixed rate
debt may not suit our needs. At those times, we use derivative financial instruments including interest rate swaps and caps, forward interest rate
options or interest rate options in order to assist us in managing our debt mix. We will either hedge our variable rate debt to give it a fixed
interest rate or hedge fixed rate debt to give it a variable interest rate. Our percentage of fixed rate debt was 81.1% as of June 30, 2005 compared
to 67.8% as of June 30, 2004.

We have three investment grade ratings. As of June 30, 2005, Fitch Rating Services and Standard & Poors have each assigned their BBB rating
to our prospective senior unsecured debt offerings and their BBB- rating to our prospective cumulative preferred stock offerings. Moody�s
Investor Service has assigned its Baa2 rating with a stable outlook to our prospective senior unsecured debt offerings and its Baa3 rating to our
prospective cumulative preferred stock offerings. A downgrade in rating by any one of these rating agencies could result from, among other
things, a change in our financial position or a downturn in general economic conditions. Any such downgrade could adversely affect our ability
to obtain future financing or could increase the interest rates on our existing variable rate debt. However, we have no debt instruments under
which the principal maturity would be accelerated upon a downward change in our debt rating.

Our total debt at June 30, 2005 and December 31, 2005 is summarized as follows:

(In thousands)
June 30, 2005 December 31, 2004

Fixed rate mortgages $ 260,534 $ 262,930
Notes payable 18,696 19,228
Unsecured credit facility 239,000 295,000
Senior unsecured notes 1,275,000 1,375,000

1,793,230 1,952,158

Unamortized discount and fair value adjustment, net (9,505) (11,028)

$ 1,783,725 $ 1,941,130
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Our fixed rate mortgage debt bore an effective weighted average interest rate of 7.44% at June 30, 2005 and had a weighted average maturity of
3.5 years. $239.0 million (13.3%) of our total debt at June 30, 2005 bore a LIBOR-based variable interest rate and $100.0 million (5.6%) of our
debt was subject to variable interest rates through interest rate swap agreements. The interest rate on borrowings on our unsecured credit facility
at June 30, 2005 was 3.99%.

We repaid $2.4 million of fixed rate mortgage debt in the first six months of 2005.

Our primary external source of liquidity is our credit facility. On June 30, 2004, we entered into a new $500.0 million, three year unsecured
revolving credit facility with JPMorgan Chase Bank as administrative agent for a syndicate of banks. The facility replaced, and was used to
repay all amounts outstanding under our previous senior unsecured credit facility. We may increase the facility to $700.0 million by our request
at any time within 24 months of the closing, provided the funding commitments are increased accordingly. The facility can be extended one year
at our option. The facility carries an interest rate of 65 basis points over 30-day LIBOR, or 3.99% as of June 30, 2005. As of June 30, 2005,
$239.0 million was drawn on the credit facility, $35.9 million in letters of credit were outstanding, and we had $225.1 million available for
borrowing.

Our unsecured credit facility contains financial and other covenants with which we must comply. Some of these covenants include:

� A minimum ratio of annual EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) to interest expense of at least 2 to
1;
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� A minimum ratio of annual EBITDA to fixed charges of at least 1.5 to 1;

� A maximum ratio of aggregate unsecured debt to tangible fair market value of our unencumbered assets of 60%;

� A maximum ratio of total secured debt to tangible fair market value of our assets of 30%;

� A maximum ratio of total debt to tangible fair market value of our assets of 60%; and

� Restrictions on our ability to make dividend distributions in excess of 90% of funds from operations or the minimum amount
necessary to enable us to maintain our status as a REIT.

As of June 30, 2005, we are in compliance with all debt covenants. For the remainder of 2005, we expect our minimum ratio of annual EBITDA
to interest expense to be in compliance but relatively close to the minimum of 2.0 to 1 as a result of space that will be out of service related to a
large new lease in Washington, D.C. and the delayed commencement of revenue recognition on leases that have been executed as a result of our
change in how we recognize revenue. If circumstances change from our current expectations, there can be no assurance we will remain in
compliance with this or our other covenants. During the first quarter of 2005, we amended our credit facility, increasing the maximum ratio of
total debt to tangible fair market value of our assets to 60%. In addition, the capitalization rate used to compute the fair market value of our
assets for purposes of calculating this ratio was decreased from 9.0% to 8.5% for properties located in the Washington, D.C. metropolitan area.
Our ability to draw on our unsecured credit facility or to incur other unsecured debt in the future could be restricted by the covenants.

We have senior unsecured notes outstanding at June 30, 2005 as follows:

(In thousands)

Note

Principal

Unamortized

Discount

Fair Value

Adjustment Total

7.375% notes due in 2007 $ 125,000 $ (289) $ �  $ 124,711
5.261% notes due in 2007 50,000 (72) �  49,928
5.25% notes due in 2007 175,000 (653) �  174,347
3.625% notes due in 2009 225,000 (574) (2,660) 221,766
6.875% notes due in 2008 100,000 (1,101) �  98,899
5.125% notes due in 2011 200,000 (556) �  199,444
7.125% notes due in 2012 400,000 (3,600) �  396,400

$ 1,275,000 $ (6,845) $ (2,660) $ 1,265,495

All of the notes are unconditionally guaranteed by CarrAmerica Realty, L.P., one of our subsidiaries.
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Our senior unsecured notes also contain covenants with which we must comply. These covenants include:

� Limits on our total indebtedness on a consolidated basis;

� Limits on our secured indebtedness on a consolidated basis;

� Limits on our required debt service payments; and

� Compliance with the financial covenants of our credit facility.

We were in compliance with our senior unsecured notes covenants as of June 30, 2005.

$100.0 million of senior unsecured notes matured on March 1, 2005 and were repaid on that date using borrowings from our unsecured credit
facility.

Derivative Financial Instruments

On November 20, 2002, in conjunction with the issuance of $175.0 million of our 5.25% senior unsecured notes, we entered into interest rate
swap agreements with JPMorgan Chase Bank, Bank of America, N.A. and Goldman, Sachs & Co. Under the terms of these agreements, we
received interest at a fixed rate of 5.25% and paid interest at a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in arrears plus 1.405%. The interest rate swaps
matured at the same time the notes were due. The swaps qualified as fair value hedges for accounting purposes. We recognized an increase in
interest expense for the six months ended June 30, 2005 of approximately $14,000 related to the swaps. We recognized a reduction in interest
expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 of approximately $0.6 million and $1.8 million, respectively, related to the swaps. On
April 18, 2005, we terminated these swap agreements by paying approximately $2.0 million. This payment is being amortized to interest
expense over the remaining term of the senior unsecured notes which mature November 2007. The effective rate of interest on the notes giving
effect to the swap termination is 5.69%.
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On March 18, 2004, in conjunction with the issuance of $225.0 million of our 3.625% senior unsecured notes, we entered into $100.0 million of
interest rate swap agreements with JPMorgan Chase Bank and Bank of America, N.A. Under the terms of these agreements, we receive interest
at a fixed rate of 3.625% and pay interest at a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in arrears plus 0.2675%. The interest rate swaps mature at the
same time the notes are due. The swaps qualify as fair value hedges for accounting purposes. As of June 30, 2005, the fair value of the interest
rate swaps was a payable of approximately $(2.7) million. We recognized an increase in interest expense for the three and six months ended June
30, 2005 of approximately $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively and a reduction in interest expense of approximately $0.2 million and $0.3
million for the three and six months, respectively, ended June 30, 2004 related to the swaps. As of June 30, 2005, taking into account the effect
of the interest rate swaps, the effective interest rate on $100.0 million of the notes was 4.23%.

On August 10, 2004, we entered into interest rate lock agreements with a notional amount of $150.0 million with JPMorgan Chase Bank,
Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Morgan Stanley in anticipation of our 5.125% $200.0 million senior unsecured note offering. We settled the interest
rate locks on August 20, 2004 and paid $0.6 million to the counterparties. The interest rate locks qualified as cash flow hedges and are being
amortized to interest expense over the life of our senior unsecured notes due in 2011. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, the
impact of the interest rate locks on interest expense was not material.

In January 2005, we purchased an interest rate cap with a notional amount of $200.0 million and LIBOR capped at 7.5% which expires in
February 2006.

Dividends

We currently intend to pay dividends quarterly. The maintenance of these dividends is subject to various factors, including the discretion of the
Board of Directors, the ability to pay dividends under Maryland law, the availability of cash to make the necessary dividend payments and the
effect of REIT distribution requirements, which require at least 90% of our taxable income to be distributed to our stockholders. The table below
details our dividend and distribution payments for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

For the three months ended
June 30,

For the six months ended
June 30,

(In thousands)
2005 2004 2005 2004

Preferred stock dividends $ 3,774 $ 3,774 $ 7,548 $ 7,548
Unit distributions 2,909 2,723 5,639 5,579
Common stock dividends 27,770 27,177 55,357 53,793

$ 34,453 $ 33,674 $ 68,544 $ 66,920

Cash flows from operations is an important factor in our ability to sustain our common stock dividend at its current rate. Cash flows from
operations decreased from $75.5 million in 2004 to $59.3 million in 2005 due primarily to fluctuations in working capital. We expect our cash

Edgar Filing: CARRAMERICA REALTY CORP - Form 10-Q

Table of Contents 61



flows from operations to be lower in 2005 than 2004 while tenant improvements and lease incentives are expected to remain at elevated levels as
a result of factors mentioned in the introduction to our Management�s Discussion and Analysis, including but not limited to, lower expected lease
termination fees, continued declines in rental rates compared to the rates on expiring leases and costs associated with a new lease in Washington,
D.C. for approximately 394,000 rentable square feet. This lease requires the space to be taken out of service for a period of two to four months
for remodeling for the new tenant, includes eight months of abated rent and requires significant capital investment in tenant improvements, lease
incentives and lease commissions. We expect that these factors will negatively impact our cash flows from operations and our ability to satisfy
our current common stock dividend payment level using cash flows from operations. We currently expect to maintain our common stock
dividend rate of $0.50 per quarter in 2005. As a result, we expect to borrow under our line of credit and/or sell assets in order to maintain this
rate. There can be no assurance that circumstances may not change and as a result of poorer than expected operating results or the inability to
obtain financing on favorable terms, or at all, that we will not later reduce our common stock dividend below the current rate. We generally are
restricted from paying dividends that would exceed 90% of our funds from operations during any four-quarter period.
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Capital Commitments

We expect to incur unusually high levels of tenant improvements, lease incentives and lease commissions due to the commencement of a
394,000 square foot lease in Washington, D.C. In connection with this lease, we expect to incur approximately $5.6 million of tenant
improvements, lease incentives and lease commissions in 2005 with an additional $25.4 million being incurred in 2006. We currently have no
development projects underway, however a joint venture in which we hold a 20% interest, has a project under construction. This project is
expected to cost $25.1 million, of which our total investment is expected to be $5.0 million. Through June 30, 2005, approximately $1.6 million
or 6.3% of total project costs had been expended on this project We expect that our credit facility and project-specific financing will provide the
additional funds required to complete this project and to finance the costs of additional projects we may undertake.

We are under contract to purchase two properties with contingencies waived which are expected to close in the third quarter. The first is a
168,000 square foot Class A office building in Rosslyn, Virginia which is being purchased for $61.7 million. The second is a 3-building,
156,000 square foot Class A R&D project in Redmond, Washington which is being purchased for approximately $35.6 million. The
consummation of these acquisitions remains subject to customary closing conditions.

Unconsolidated Investments and Joint Ventures

We have investments in real estate joint ventures in which we hold 15%-50% interests. These investments are accounted for using the equity
method and therefore the assets and liabilities of the joint ventures are not included in our consolidated financial statements. Most of our real
estate joint ventures own and operate office buildings financed by non-recourse debt obligations that are secured only by the real estate and other
assets of the joint ventures. We have no obligation to repay this debt and the lenders have no recourse to our other assets. As of June 30, 2005,
we guaranteed $30.0 million of debt related to a joint venture and have provided a completion guarantee related to a joint venture project for
which total costs are anticipated to be $172.0 million, of which $140.0 million had been expended to date. We have not funded any amounts
under these guarantees and do not expect any funding will be required in the future. We are also committed to fund $2.7 million of capital to one
of our joint ventures. We expect to make this contribution in 2005.

Our investments in these joint ventures are subject to risks not inherent in our majority owned properties, including:

� Absence of exclusive control over the development, financing, leasing, management and other aspects of the project;

� Possibility that our co-venturer or partner might:

� become bankrupt;

� have interests or goals that are inconsistent with ours;
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� take action contrary to our instructions, requests or interests (including those related to our qualification as a REIT for tax
purposes); or

� otherwise impede our objectives; and

� Possibility that we, together with our partners, may be required to fund losses of the investee.

In addition to making investments in these ventures, we provide construction management, leasing and property management, development and
architectural and other services to them. We earned fees for these services of $2.6 million and $1.7 million for the three months ended June 30,
2005 and 2004, respectively, and $4.6 million and $3.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2005 and 2004, respectively. Accounts
receivable from joint ventures and other affiliates were $1.9 million at June 30, 2005 and $0.8 million at June 30, 2004.

We have a minority ownership interest in a non-real estate operating company, AgilQuest, which we account for using the cost method and in
which we invested $2.8 million. We evaluate this investment regularly considering factors such as the company�s progress against its business
plans, its operating results and the estimated fair value of its equity securities. Based on this evaluations, we recognized an impairment loss of
$1.1 million on our investment in AgilQuest in 2003. In the future, additional impairment charges related to our investment may be required.
During the second quarter of 2005, we converted our equity investment in essention to a note receivable.
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

Variable Interest Entities

During 2003, we provided mezzanine loans and guaranties to third-parties for development management projects. The purpose of these variable
interest entities (�VIEs�) is to build and own office buildings in Washington, D.C. Based upon our analysis, we believe that we are not the primary
beneficiary of either entity and, accordingly, we do not consolidate them. Our maximum exposure to loss as June 30, 2005 is $73.8 million, the
sum of our notes receivable ($29.2 million) and the maximum exposure under the guaranties ($44.6 million).

In December 2004, we provided mezzanine financing to a third-party joint venture. This VIE owns property in Texas. Based upon our analysis,
we believe that we are not the primary beneficiary of this entity and, accordingly, we do not consolidate it. Our maximum exposure to loss as of
June 30, 2005 is $13.8 million, the balance of our subordinated note receivable.

Guarantee Obligations

Our obligations under guarantee agreements at June 30, 2005 are summarized as follows:

Type of Guarantee Project Relationship Term

Maximum

Exposure

Carrying

Value

Loan1 575 7th Street Oct-05 $ 30,000,000 $ �  
Loan2 Atlantic Building Mar-07 25,000,000 160,000
Completion3 Atlantic Building Mar-07 60,167,000 250,000
Completion4 Shakespeare Theatre Dec-06 47,458,000 725,000
Loan5 10UCP Nov-06 1,015,000 �  
Loan6 Square 320 Mar-06 19,570,000 165,000

1. Loan guarantee relates to a joint venture in which we have a 30% interest and for which we are the developer. It is a payment guarantee to
the lender on behalf of the joint venture. If the joint venture defaults on the loan, we may be required to perform under the guarantee. We
have a reimbursement guarantee from the other joint venture partner to repay us its proportionate share (70%) of any monies we pay under
the guarantee.

2. Loan guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a payment guarantee to the lender. If the third
party defaults on the loan, we may be required to perform under the guarantee. We have a security interest in the third party�s interest
in the underlying property. In the event of a default, we can exercise our rights under the security agreement to take title to the
property and sell the property to mitigate our exposure under the guarantee. We have entered into an agreement with the lender that
permits us to acquire the lender�s first position mortgage securing the loan if the third party defaults on the loan and we then make
payment in full to the lender under the guarantee.

3.
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Completion guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a completion guaranty to the lender. If the third
party defaults on its obligation to construct the building, we may be required to perform. As long as there is no Event of Default under the
loan agreement, the lender will continue to make funds available from the construction loan to complete the project.

4. Completion guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a completion guaranty to the lender and/or
owners. If the third party defaults on its obligation to construct the building, we may be required to perform. As long as there is no Event
of Default under the loan agreement, the lender will continue to make funds available from the construction loan to complete the project.

5. Lease-up guarantee to a lender. Funds related to this guarantee are being held in escrow by a joint venture in which we own a minority
interest.

6. Loan guarantee relates to a third party project for which we are the developer. It is a payment guarantee to the lender. If the third
party defaults on the loan, we may be required to perform under the guarantee. We have a security interest in the third party�s interest
in the underlying property. In the event of a default, we can exercise our rights under the security agreement to take title to the
property and sell the property to mitigate our exposure under the guarantee. We have entered into an agreement with the lender that
permits us to acquire the lender�s first position mortgage securing the loan if the third party defaults on the loan and we then make
payment in full to the lender under the guarantee.

In the normal course of business, we guarantee our performance of services or indemnify third parties against our negligence.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2005, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (�FASB�) issued SFAS No. 154, �Accounting Changes and Error Corrections.� It replaces
Accounting Principle Board Opinion No. 20, �Accounting Changes,� and SFAS No. 3, �Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial
Statements.� SFAS No. 154 changes the requirements for the accounting for and reporting of a change in accounting principles. It requires
retrospective application to prior periods� financial statements of changes in accounting principle, unless it is impracticable to determine either
the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect of the change. The statement is effective for accounting changes and corrections of errors
made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005.
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In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (R), �Share-Based Compensation.� It replaces SFAS No. 123, �Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees.� SFAS No. 123 (R) requires the compensation cost relating to share-based payment transactions be recognized in financial
statements. It is required to be applied by us beginning January 1, 2006. We intend to adopt SFAS No. 123(R) using the modified prospective
application method which requires, among other things, that we recognize compensation cost for all awards outstanding at January 1, 2006, for
which the requisite service has not yet been rendered. Because we have used a fair value based method of accounting for stock-based
compensation costs for all employee stock compensation awards granted, modified or settled since January 1, 2003, and do not expect to have
significant unvested awards from periods prior to January 1, 2003 outstanding at January 1, 2006, adoption of SFAS No. 123 (R) is not expected
to have a material effect on our financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, �Exchange of Nonmonetary Assets, an amendment of APB Opinion No. 29.� The
amendments made by SFAS No. 153 are based on the principle that exchanges of nonmonetary assets should be measured on the fair value of
assets exchanged. The statement eliminates the exception for nonmonetary exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a broader
exception for exchanges of nonmonetary assets that do not have commercial substance. The statement is effective for nonmonetary exchanges
occurring in fiscal periods beginning after June 15, 2005.

Emerging Issues Task Force (�EITF�) Issue 04-5, �Investor�s Accounting for an Investment in a Limited Partnership When the Investor Is the Sole
General Partner and the Limited Partners Have Certain Rights� was ratified by the FASB in June 2005. At issue is what rights held by the limited
partner(s) preclude consolidation in circumstances in which the sole general partner would consolidate the limited partnership in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The assessment of limited partners� rights and their impact on the presumption of control of
the limited partnership by the sole general partner should be made when an investor becomes the sole general partner and should be reassessed if
(a) there is a change to the terms or in the exercisability of the rights of the limited partners, (b) the sole general partner increases or decreases its
ownership of limited partnership interests, or (c) there is an increase or decrease in the number of outstanding limited partnership interests. This
Issue is effective no later than for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005 and as of June 29, 2005 for new and modified arrangements.
We do not expect that we will be required to consolidate any of our current unconsolidated investments nor will this EITF have a material effect
on our financial statements.

Funds from Operations

Funds from Operations (�FFO�) is a widely used measure of operating performance for real estate companies. We provide FFO as a supplement to
net income calculated in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (�GAAP�). Although FFO is a
widely used measure of operating performance for equity REITs, FFO does not represent net income calculated in accordance with GAAP. As
such, it should not be considered an alternative to net income as an indication of our operating performance. In addition, FFO does not represent
cash generated from operating activities in accordance with GAAP, nor does it represent cash available to pay distributions and should not be
considered as an alternative to cash flow from operating activities, determined in accordance with GAAP as a measure of our liquidity, nor is it
indicative of funds available to fund our cash needs, including our ability to make cash distributions. FFO is defined by the National Association
of Real Estate Investment Trusts (NAREIT) as follows:

� Net income - computed in accordance with GAAP;

� Less gains (or plus losses) from sales of operating properties and items that are classified as extraordinary items under GAAP;
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� Plus depreciation and amortization of assets uniquely significant to the real estate industry;

� Plus or minus adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures (to reflect funds from operations on the same basis).

We believe that FFO is helpful to investors as a measure of our performance because it excludes various items included in net income that do not
relate to or are not indicative of our operating performance, such as gains and losses on sales of real estate and real estate related depreciation
and amortization, which can make periodic comparison of operating performance more difficult. Our management believes, however, that FFO,
by excluding such items, which can vary among owners of similar assets in similar condition based on historical cost accounting and useful life
estimates, can help compare the operating performance of a company�s real estate between periods or as compared to different companies. Our
FFO may not be comparable to FFO reported by other REITs. These other REITs may not define the term in accordance with the current
NAREIT definition or may interpret the current NAREIT definition differently than us.
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The following table provides the calculation of our FFO and a reconciliation of FFO to net income for the periods presented:

For the three months ended

June 30,

For the six months ended

June 30,

(In thousands)
2005 2004 2005 2004

Net income $ 11,868 $ 14,007 $ 106,910 $ 29,237

Adjustments
Minority interest 1,977 2,139 3,768 4,165
FFO allocable to Unitholders (3,796) (3,502) (7,153) (7,060)
Depreciation and amortization 37,169 35,516 73,897 70,754
Minority interests� (non-Unitholders share of depreciation, amortization and net income) (263) (267) (548) (540)
(Gain) loss on sale of properties (4,436) 48 (92,530) (8)

FFO as defined by NAREIT1 $ 42,519 $ 47,941 $ 84,344 $ 96,548

1 FFO as defined by NAREIT includes impairment losses on real estate.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements contained in this Form 10-Q which are not historical facts may be forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the �Exchange Act�). We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor
provisions for forward-looking statements contained in Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Such statements (none of which is intended as a
guarantee of performance) are subject to certain risks and uncertainties, which could cause our actual future results, achievements or transactions
to differ materially from those projected or anticipated. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements,
which speak only as of the date this Form 10-Q is filed with the SEC. A number of important factors could cause actual results to differ
materially from those indicated by the forward-looking statements, including, but not limited to, the risks described in our annual report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004. Such factors include, among others:

� National and local economic, business and real estate conditions that will, among other things, affect:

� Demand for office space,

� The extent, strength and duration of any economic recovery, including the effect on demand for office space and the creation of
new office development,
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� Availability and creditworthiness of tenants,

� The level of lease rents, and

� The availability of financing for both tenants and us;

� Adverse changes in the real estate markets, including, among other things:

� The extent of tenant bankruptcies, financial difficulties and defaults,

� The extent of future demand for office space in our core markets and barriers to entry into markets which we may seek to enter
in the future,

� The extent of the decreases in rental rates,

� Our ability to identify and consummate attractive acquisitions on favorable terms,

� Our ability to consummate any planned dispositions in a timely manner on acceptable terms, and

� Changes in operating costs, including real estate taxes, utilities, insurance and security costs;

� Actions, strategies and performance of affiliates that we may not control or companies in which we have made investments;

� Ability to obtain insurance at a reasonable cost;

� Ability to maintain our status as a REIT for federal and state income tax purposes;

� Ability to raise capital;

� Effect of any terrorist activity or other heightened geopolitical risks;
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� Governmental actions and initiatives; and

� Environmental/safety requirements.

For further discussion of these and other factors that could impact our future results, performance, achievements or transactions, see the
documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and in particular, the section titled �The Company � Risk
Factors� in our Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our future earnings and cash flows and the fair values of our financial instruments are dependent upon prevailing market rates. Market risk
associated with financial instruments and derivative and commodity instruments is the risk of loss from adverse changes in market prices or
rates. We manage our risk by matching projected cash inflows from operating activities, financing activities and investing activities with
projected cash outflows to fund debt payments, acquisitions, capital expenditures, distributions and other cash requirements. We may also use
derivative financial instruments at times to limit market risk. Derivative financial instruments may be used to convert variable rate debt to a
fixed rate basis, to convert fixed rate debt to a variable rate basis or to hedge anticipated financing transactions. We use derivative financial
instruments only for hedging purposes, and not for speculation or trading purposes.

On November 20, 2002, in conjunction with the issuance of $175.0 million of our 5.25% senior unsecured notes, we entered into interest rate
swap agreements with JPMorgan Chase Bank, Bank of America, N.A. and Goldman, Sachs & Co. Under the terms of these agreements, we
received interest at a fixed rate of 5.25% and paid interest at a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in arrears plus 1.405%. The interest rate swaps
matured at the same time the notes were due. The swaps qualified as fair value hedges for accounting purposes. We recognized an increase in
interest expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005 of approximately $14,000 related to the swaps. We recognized a reduction in
interest expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2004 of approximately $0.6 million and $1.8 million, respectively, related to the
swaps. On April 18, 2005, we terminated these swap agreements by paying approximately $2.0 million. This payment is being amortized to
interest expense over the remaining term of the senior unsecured notes which mature November 2007. The effective rate of interest on the notes
giving effect to the swap termination is 5.69%.

On March 18, 2004, in conjunction with the issuance of $225.0 million of our 3.625% senior unsecured notes, we entered into $100.0 million of
interest rate swap agreements with JPMorgan Chase Bank and Bank of America, N.A. Under the terms of these agreements, we receive interest
at a fixed rate of 3.625% and pay interest at a variable rate of six-month LIBOR in arrears plus 0.2675%. The interest rate swaps mature at the
same time the notes are due. The swaps qualify as fair value hedges for accounting purposes. As of June 30, 2005, the fair value of the interest
rate swaps was a payable of approximately $(2.7) million. We recognized an increase in interest expense for the three and six months ended June
30, 2005 of approximately $0.1 million and $0.2 million, respectively and a reduction in interest expense of approximately $0.2 million and $0.3
million for the three and six months, respectively, ended June 30, 2004 related to the swaps. As of June 30, 2005, taking into account the effect
of the interest rate swaps, the effective interest rate on $100.0 million of the notes was 4.23%.

On August 10, 2004, we entered into interest rate lock agreements with a notional amount of $150.0 million with JPMorgan Chase Bank,
Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Morgan Stanley in anticipation of our 5.125% $200.0 million senior unsecured note offering. We settled the interest
rate locks on August 20, 2004 and paid $0.6 million to the counterparties. The interest rate locks qualified as cash flow hedges and are being
amortized to interest expense over the life of our senior unsecured notes due in 2011. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, the
impact of the interest rate locks on interest expense was not material.

In January 2005, we purchased an interest rate cap with a notional amount of $200.0 million and LIBOR capped at 7.5% which expires in
February 2006.

Our unsecured line of credit carries an interest rate of 30-day LIBOR plus 0.65%. This exposes us to the risk of higher interest costs if 30-day
LIBOR should increase above its current low levels. A 10% increase in the current interest rate would have increased interest expense on the line
of credit approximately $0.6 million for the first six months of 2005.
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If the market rates of interest on our interest rate swap agreements increase by 10% (or approximately 42 basis points), our interest expense
would have increased by approximately $0.1 million and $0.4 million for the three and six months ended June 30, 2005, respectively.

Any other significant changes in our market risk that have occurred since the filing of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2004 are summarized in the Liquidity and Capital Resources section of the Management�s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness as of June 30, 2005 of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in
Rule 13a-15 of the rules promulgated under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the design and operation of these disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the
end of the period covered by this report.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Part II

OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

We are party to a variety of other legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. All of these matters, taken together, are not
expected to have a material adverse impact on us.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

Our 2005 annual meeting of stockholders was held on April 28, 2005.

Proposal One: Election of Directors - Andrew F. Brimmer, Thomas A. Carr, Joan Carter, Philip L. Hawkins, Robert E. Torray and Wesley S.
Williams were reelected to our Board of Directors. Bryce Blair was newly elected to our Board of Directors. The following votes were taken in
connection with the proposal.

FOR WITHHELD

Bryce Blair 47,610,119 262,254
Andrew F. Brimmer 47,469,429 402,944
Thomas A. Carr 47,492,060 380,313
Joan Carter 47,616,421 255,952
Philip L. Hawkins 43,537,438 4,334,535
Robert E. Torray 46,965,148 907,225
Wesley S. Williams, Jr. 47,479,104 393,269

Proposal Two: The ratification of our Audit Committee�s appointment of KPMG, LLP as our independent registered public accounting firm for
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2005 was approved at the meeting. The following votes were take in connection with the proposal.

        FOR              AGAINST            ABSTAIN      

46,846,545 564,665 461,163

Item 6. Exhibits
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31.1 Section 302 Certification from Mr. Thomas A. Carr, dated August 1, 2005

31.2 Section 302 Certification from Mr. Stephen E. Riffee, dated August 1, 2005

32.1 Section 906 Certification from Mr. Thomas A. Carr and Mr. Stephen E. Riffee, dated August 1, 2005
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

CARRAMERICA REALTY CORPORATION

/s/ Kurt A. Heister

Kurt A. Heister, Senior Vice President, Controller and Treasurer
(on behalf of the registrant and as the registrant�s

chief accounting officer)

Date: August 1, 2005
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